
32325 Franklin Road, Franklin, Michigan 48025

______ 

  F: (248) 626-0538 (248) 626-9666

www.franklin.mi.us 

VILLAGE OF FRANKLIN 

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 

MONDAY, August 09, 2021, 7:00 P.M. 

Village of Franklin Hall (Broughton House), 32325 Franklin Rd, Franklin, MI 48025 

A G E N D A 

I. CALL TO ORDER

II. ROLL CALL

III. ADOPTION OF AGENDA

IV. MINUTES:

A. Special Meeting of July 19, 2021

V. PUBLIC REQUESTS AND COMMENTS

VI. REPORTS OF VILLAGE OFFICERS AND AGENTS

VII. SUBMISSION OF CURRENT BILLS

VIII. SPECIAL REPORTS

A. President’s Report

B. Council Report

C. Administrator Report

D. Clerk Report

E. Main Street Franklin Report

F. Planning Commission Report

G. Diversity Equity & Inclusion Committee Report

IX. NEW BUSINESS

A. Consider the Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain Chapter 20 Section 471 Agreement.

B. Consider Proposal from Hubbell, Roth, and Clark to Analyze Notable Effects of recent Storm

Flooding.

C. Consider Proposal from Hubbell, Roth, and Clark for 2021 Annual Storm Sewer Maintenance

Program.

D. Consider the Appointment of an Alternate Board Member for the Zoning/Sign Board of

Appeals.

E. Consider Declaration of Emergency for the COVID-19 Resurgence until December 31, 2021.

F. Consider Correction to Ordinance; Section 1268.28; Creating Standards for Garden Enclosures

amendments are proposed to Section 1268.28, Fences, to create standards for enclosures around

gardens, including requirements governing their locations, size, and materials (Approval date of

July 19, 2021. Suggested Correction to add in the remaining portion of the current Fence

Ordinance.)

G. Consider Civic Events Permit for the Labor Day Round Up on September 06, 2021.
H. Consider Civic Events Permit for Art in the Village on September 03-06, 2021.
I. Consider Civic Events Permit for the Friends of the Franklin Public Library Oktoberfest on

Friday, October 8, 2021.
X. ADJOURNMENT

Posted: August 06, 2021    Heather Mydloski / Village Clerk 

POSTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH PUBLIC ACT 267 (OPEN MEETINGS ACT 

The Village of Franklin will provide necessary, reasonable auxiliary aids and services to individuals with disabilities requiring such services.  All 
requests must be made to the Village Clerk at least five (5) business days before a meeting.  Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or 

services should contact the Village in writing at 32325 Franklin Road, Franklin, MI 48025 or by calling the Clerk’s Office, at 248-626-9666. 

http://www.franklin.mi.us/


 

VILLAGE OF FRANKLIN 
SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 

MONDAY, JULY 19, 2021, 7:00 P.M. 
Village of Franklin Hall (Broughton House), 32325 Franklin Rd, Franklin, MI 48025 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 

 
The meeting was called to order by President Bill Lamott, at 7:00 P.M.  
 
II. ROLL CALL 

 
Present:           Brian Gordon, Kathy Erlich, Mark Hanke, Pam Hansen, Ed Saenz Mike Seltzer  

and Bill Lamott. 
 

Absent:            None 
 
Also Present: Mike Bastianelli, Police Lieutenant; Tony Averbuch, Fire Chief; Roger Fraser, Village  

  Administrator, Village Attorney Peter Gojcaj, Heather Mydloski, Village Clerk,  
                            Karen Couf-Cohen, Communications; and Ed Zmich of Hubbell, Roth, and Clark.  
 
III. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

 
Motion by Seltzer, seconded by Hanke to adopt the Agenda as presented. 
  
AYES:        Saenz, Hansen, Hanke, Erlich, Gordon, Seltzer and Lamott  
NAYS:        None  

 
IV. MINUTES 

 
A. Regular Meeting of June 14, 2021 

 
Erlich asked for the following to be added to the minutes of June 14, 2021:  
(Page 11 of 22) Erlich’s interpretation of the study was that it was only those who really cared 
about whether they have well or city water were the ones who filled out the survey. Whereas, 
most likely, the half who did not fill out the survey are happy enough with their water that 
they did not care to fill it out. 

 
Gordon requested the following correction for the minutes of June 14, 2021:  
(Page 11 of 22, third paragraph from the bottom) Gordon thought the regulations of the GFE’s 
might be inconsistent with the desired rural feel of Franklin. 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 2 of 33 

 

 

Motion by Seltzer, seconded by Hanke to adopt the Minutes for the Regular Meeting of June 
14, 2021, as amended.  
 
AYES:        Saenz, Hansen, Hanke, Erlich, Gordon, Seltzer and Lamott  
NAYS:        None  

 
V. PUBLIC REQUESTS AND COMMENTS 

 
Public Comments were opened by President, Bill Lamott at 7:02 PM. 

 
Rick David-27201 Wellington 

• David asked the Council for clarity with the Open Meetings Act (OMA) compliant 
standard requirements for committees. He mentioned that the issue had been 
addresses by Council a few months ago and was to be reviewed by the Village Attorney. 
He also stated he had not seen any postings of meetings for the Liquor Committee 
report that was listed in the Council agenda tonight, and he was not aware of it being 
posted according to the OMA requirements.  

• Gordon quoted from the OMA under the Advisory committees and the OMA which 
states:  
– the OMA does not apply to committees and subcommittees composed of less than a 
quorum of the full public body if they "are merely advisory or only capable of making 
'recommendations concerning the exercise of governmental authority.'"40 Where, on the 
other hand, a committee or subcommittee is empowered to act on matters in such a 
fashion as to deprive the full public body of the opportunity to consider a matter, a 
decision of the committee or subcommittee "is an exercise of governmental authority 
which effectuates public policy" and the committee or subcommittee proceedings are, 
therefore, subject to the OMA. 41 If a joint meeting of two committees of a board (each 
with less than a quorum of the board) results in the presence of a quorum of the board, 
the board must comply in all respects with the OMA and notice of the joint meeting must 
include the fact that a quorum of the board will be present.42. 

• Gordon reiterated that the Council is still awaiting the Village Attorneys opinion to be 
certain of compliance with the OMA. 

Nena Downing 30645 Bruce Lane 

• She mentioned the Franklin Community Association was hosting the Music on the 
Green on Wednesday, July 21, 2021. She asked the Council if we have the budget to 
spray for mosquitoes considering the recent weather conditions.  

• Downing asked if a chipper could be sent around the Village to pick up the debris from 
the recent storm. 

• Council discussed and agreed it was a good idea under the unique weather 
circumstances.  

• Lamott stated the Council should develop a fair criterion for such clean up in the future.  



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 3 of 33 

 

 

• Fraser said he was willing to arrange for the clean up to be done and notify the 
residents.  

• The Council discussed the budget for such, and it was determined that they were funds 
that could be used for this purpose under tree maintenance and trimming in the 
roadway and right away. Fraser asked that a cap of $7500.00 be placed on a one-time 
clean-up, to be defined as whatever fits in a chipper.  

• Erlich asked if the Village currently sprayed? She proposed alerting Villagers by posting 
the chemicals used if the Green was sprayed.   

• Hansen asked if we were a mosquito-controlled district. Fraser responded we are not.  
 

Public Comments were closed by President, Bill Lamott at 7:11 PM. 
 

VI. REPORTS OF VILLAGE OFFICERS AND AGENTS 
Tony Averbuch, Fire Chief 

• Reviewed Submitted Report. 

• Informed the Council it had been a long week with a months’ worth of calls in 5 
days mitigating the recent storm damage. He is proud of the excellent emergency 
response of the Franklin Police and Fire Departments.  

• Had a wire that went down over North Crowell and Tudor that was a transmission 
line (feed subdivision) it melted concrete. The road was closed off to the public 
and someone decided to go through it and melted their tires. He asked that the 
public remember that electricity is dangerous and that they adhere to road 
closures.   

Mike Bastianelli, Police Lieutenant 

• Reviewed Submitted Report. 

• Commended the excellent effort extended from the Franklin- Bingham Farms 
Police and Fire Departments who worked together to stay on top of the needs 
that arose from the storm.  

• Large increase in traffic violations due to the road construction traffic. 

• LIEN Audit (Law Enforcement Information Audit) was conducted on June 16, 

2021. The State of Michigan audits the law enforcement computer data bases 
every three (3) years. The department passed with flying colors.  Nearly 100 
different metrics are used to include the computer polices and procedures. He 
Commended Sgt. Mydloski who spearheaded the audit as he was on top of it 
making it a smooth process.  

• FBFPD will present awards to deserving officers at the next Council meeting on 
August 9, 2021. 

• In response to Hanke’s inquiry regarding the larceny for mail, Bastianelli stated 
that the resident did not receive a package that was delivered. The investigation 
is still open.  

 
 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 4 of 33 

 

 

VII. SUBMISSION OF CURRENT BILLS 
Lance Vainik, Village Treasurer (was absent)  

• Council reviewed Submitted Report. 

Totals:  07-19-2021  
CATEGORY  SUB TOTALS  

General  $          55,803.92 

Major Streets  $          20,266.99 

Local Streets  $           21,179.08 

Police  $          63,847.35 

Garbage and Rubbish  $          15,190.01 

Building Dept.  $          24,423.29 

Library  $                        - 

Street Project  $                372.50 

Road Millage  $                500.00 

Pressure Sewer  $                        - 

Tax Collection  $              6,759.65 

Wastewater  $                 698.32 

TOTALS  $         209,041.11 

 
 Motion by Seltzer, seconded by Saenz to approve the Bills List as presented. 

 
AYES:        Saenz, Hansen, Hanke, Erlich, Gordon, Seltzer and Lamott  
NAYS:        None  
 
Motion carried. 

 
VIII. SPECIAL REPORTS 

A. President’s Report 
President Lamott 
Nothing reported.  

 
B. Council Report 

Trustee Seltzer 

• Responded to the comments made about him at the last Council Meeting, as he was 
absent, regarding his impatience at the May Special Village Council meeting. He was 
accused of being disrespectful, and insensitive regarding his stance on the streetscape 
plan toward two (2) residents, President Lamott and Trustee Erlich. He stated for the 
record the two (2) residents were not protecting their property but rather, prohibiting 
safe passage for all Villagers on the Village property. The property in question is the 
Village right of way not their individual properties. He further stated that the Village 
Attorney had determined these actions were lawful and a judge then ruled otherwise. 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 5 of 33 

 

 

The issue was brought before the community for a public vote. The public voted to 
approve. After the Council vote to proceed 6-1. Seltzer addressed Lamott’s decision 
publicly and directly. He further stated that he makes no apologies for his actions as he 
stands by his actions and comments he made.  

Trustee Hansen 

• She feels that Villagers had been properly informed on the Streetscape updates from 
Karen-Couf Cohen’s weekly updates and Newsletter. She implored residents to sign up 
for the Newsletter by calling the office.  

• Construction is beginning from Scenic down to thirteen Mile Road. Trees are being 
cleared on the east side of the street. There will be a crosswalk put in the intersection 
across Thirteen Mile Road. The Village is working with the County.  

• She further mentioned that Mike Barger, the Village Arborist had walked the path and 
surveyed the trees. She reported that there were 17 or 18 trees removed and that most 
of the trees removed were diseased or decayed.  

• She implored Villagers to be mindful of the new landscape downtown, wide turns are 
damaging the new landscape.  

• Hanke publicly thanks Hansen for the excellent job hearing residents and responding to 
their needs throughout the streetscape process.  
 

C. Administrator Report 
Roger Fraser, Village Administrator  

• He was pleased to announce that Megan Schubert was selected to become the new 
Village of Franklin Economic Director working with Main Street Franklin. She has a 
master’s degree in business. She will begin on August 2, 2021. She is currently 
employed as a Director by the Isabella County Child Advocacy Center. She resides in 
Warren. She is a welcome addition to our staff.  

• Hanke reiterate that Schubert is an excellent choice that will hit the ground running.  

• Fraser asked to Gojcaj to comment on Village Attorney, Tim Currier’s status. 
GojcajCurrier fell ill and required surgery, developed a serious infection and is now 
recovering at a long-term facility. Gojcaj will keep the Council posted.  

• He praised Peter Halick who was contracted to paint the Village Hall to repair damaged 
wood and peeling paint. Halick’s work was impressive and Halick will be invited to do 
more work for the Village because of his exceptional work.  

• He stated that the contractual bookkeeper was not funded in this year’s budget cycle. 
He stated the position will be filled by a full-time employee. In the meantime, a full 
review of the position requirements and compliance standards to be conducted by 
Plante Moran. 
 

D. Clerk Report 
Heather Mydloski, Village Clerk 

• Reviewed Submitted Report. 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 6 of 33 

 

 

• Southfield Township Clerk, Sharon Tischler was retiring after thirty-seven (37) years of 
service to our community. She will be greatly missed. Mydloski implored any Franklin 
resident interested in becoming appointed to her position contact Southfield Township.  

• Point and Pay System for the Building Department is up and running. The Village has 
received eight payments online so far. It is expected that the Building Department will 
be able to accept permits online by the end of August.  

• Setting up the Tax System is next on the list and then a phone system replacement.  

• Mydloski praised Doreen Martin for the excellent work done to upgrades the Village’s 
internal operations on top of supporting Mydloski, training Megan Bohm, handling the 
Finance Clerk duties, supporting Fraser as well as doing her own job.  

• Mydloski also praised Martin and Bohm for creating the new binders for the Council 
packets. Martin’s intent was to create a professional and efficient way for the Council to 
find the supporting documentation to the agenda items during meetings. 

• Hanke thanked Martin for her excellent work! Council agreed.   
 

E. Main Street Franklin Report 
Karen Couf-Cohen, Village Communications 

• Excited about the Summer Block Party on August 18, 2021, from 5:00 PM – 8:30 PM in 
downtown Franklin. It is an excellent way to support our merchants and to celebrate a 
brighter, greener, and safer downtown, historic Franklin. Good, unusual kids’ activities, 
recycled scrap mobile for crafts and mobile bus that explains the recycling process to 
the children. The Franklin Grill will participate. There will be food trucks, hot dog cart 
and an ice cream cart. A wine tent hosted by Tangerine Wine will be a fundraiser for 
Main Street Franklin. Encouraging merchants to have a sidewalk sale. Access Academy 
Music School will be performing by marching around the Village from store to store. 
Connie Ettinger will be the Master of Ceremonies and Sean Balkman will perform. 

• Seltzer stated that Main Street had not received $2500.00 that had been previously 
allocated for Light the Night that had to be canceled due to COVID-19 restrictions.  

• Gordon stated the funds not used were from last year’s budget. He suggested we use 
those funds to fund this event.  

• Fraser sated a $2500.00 check had been issued to Main Street Franklin. Council praised 
Fraser’s efficiency.  

• Hanke mentioned that this is one of the biggest events that have been planned and he 
was thrilled to see it come to fruition.  

• Fraser praised Couf-Cohen for her demonstrated enthusiasm with helping the business 
community. She has done a great job of connecting the Village to merchants.  

• Seltzer informed the Council that Music on the Green was Couf-Cohen’s idea. 

• Merchant Appreciation Plan suggestion that would allow merchants to receive vouchers 
for complimentary food truck items to show appreciation for doing business in 
Franklin.  



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 7 of 33 

 

 

• Hansen praised Couf-Cohen for publishing an ad about the event in the Birmingham 
Eagle. 
 

F. Planning Commission Report. 
Planning Commission Chairman, David Goldberg 

• The next Planning Commission meeting on July 21, 2021, will be an hour earlier, at 6:00 
PM to accommodate the Music on the Green event.  

• The PC is currently reviewing the use of Temporary Signs in the Village, Village Owned 
Land analysis and inventory, also the JenStan review.  

• Mike Barger had been asked to suggest a Wetlands Consultant to the PC that could help 
in identifying protect wetlands, woodlands, and wildlife inventory. He recommended a 
consultant that handles all areas. They will provide a proposal.  
 

G. Diversity Equity & Inclusion Committee Report 
Nothing reported. 

IX. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
A. Consider the Appointment of an Ad Hoc Water Study Subcommittee. 

Responding to Hansen, Fraser defined his vision for the Ad Hoc Water Study Subcommittee. Jamie 
Burton, Eddie Zmich of Hubbell, Roth, and Clark and Fraser had participated in a lot of 
brainstorming to envision how the Village could create an ongoing role for the Village.  His vision 
of an advisory board is for a small group to find a way for the Village to work with the Community 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 8 of 33 

 

 

and help them maintain, appreciate, and use their water. What kind of help can we provide to our 
residents that is within our realm to do so? 
 
Gordon agreed with Fraser to strive to get more residents satisfied with their water and move the 
percentage of residents dissatisfied with their water north. He reiterated that the water is safe to 
drink as reported by EGLE. He would like to see water testing availability for residents.   
 
Hanke agreed that we hadn’t found anything wrong with the water yet, but we needed to be 
prudent in our future process to ensure water safety.  
 
Seltzer asked what the bigger picture was. He wants to know if there is an appetite for residents 
to connect to the Detroit Municipal Water System. 
 
Saenz piggy backed on that, he feels there is an interim focus, but he believes we should pursue 
Municipal water for multiple reasons but specifically safety in terms of fire hydrants and water 
usage during power outages.   
 
Erlich stated that the results of the survey were split 50/50 and she did not feel the result was a 
resident appetite for municipal water.  
 
Hansen stated that we do not have a problem currently, but we need to institute a plan for the 
future so we can prepare for a drastic change if needed. She doesn’t feel that municipal water is 
the topic of discussion now. She wants to focus on monitoring the water now and in the future.  
 
Fraser was tasked with coming up with a date for the Water Survey Sub Committee to meet. 
 
Seltzer stated that the information should be in the Newsletter to inform residents who may want 
to participate. He mentioned residents could also reach out to the Village Clerk with their interest.  

 
B. Consider Reconciliation Budget Amendment Fiscal Year 2020-2021. 

 
Fraser reviewed his submitted report. 
 
Hanke asked for clarification on an apparent mathematical error he noticed in the supporting 
documentation submitted from Fraser.  
 
Fraser stated the critical numbers were in the Resolution. Hanke was satisfied with Fraser’s 
explanation.  



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 9 of 33 

 

 

 
RESOLUTION TO AMEND FY2020-21 BUDGET 

JULY 19, 2021 
 
WHEREAS on June 8, 2020, the Franklin Village Council adopted a general appropriations act 
approving the annual Village Budget for fiscal year 2020-2021, and 
 
WHEREAS the Village Administrator has prepared a report to Council detailing the changes 
needed to the various activities and that report is attached hereto and incorporated herein, 
and 
 
WHEREAS certain departments within the General Fund and Police Fund have exceeded 
amounts budgeted in particular activities, and 
 
WHEREAS certain departments within the General Fund and Police Fund have underspent the 
amount budgeted in specific activities, and 
 
WHEREAS total revenues in the General Fund exceed budget amounts by $105,223.23, and 
 
WHEREAS the following General Fund departments underspent their budget by the specified 
amounts: 
101-172 Administration $23,071.27 
101-252 Treasury 3,196.22 
101-721 Bds & Comm. 801.72 
101-901 Capital Exp. 8,653.00 
207-301 Police 45,454.72 
Total Unspent $79,175.91 
 
WHEREAS the difference between total department expenditures exceeding amounts 
budgeted of $119,912.22 and those expenditures under amounts budgeted of $79,175.91, is 
$40,636.31, and  
 
BE IT RESOLVED the following changes be made in the amounts budgeted for General Fund 
revenues:101-000-995.004 transfer out to Police Fund is decreased by $43,454.72 and 
$40,636.31 is appropriated from General Fund non-departmental revenues, and 
 
IT IS RESOLVED the following changes be made in amounts budgeted for General Fund 
expenditures: 
101-101 Village Council is increased by $103,996.44 
101-215 Village Clerk is increased by $3,532.72 
101-721 Building and Grounds is increased by $11,676.06 
101-851 General Insurance is increased by $607.00, and 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 10 of 33 

 

 

 
IT IS FINALLY RESOLVED the following change be made in the amount budgeted for Police 
Fund expenditure: 207-265 Building and Grounds is increased by $2,153.56. 
 

Motion by Gordon, seconded by Seltzer to approve the Reconciliation Budget Amendment 
Fiscal Year 2020-2021 as presented.  

 
      AYES:        Saenz, Hansen, Hanke, Erlich, Gordon, Seltzer and Lamott  
      NAYS:        None  
      Motion carried. 

 
C. Discussion Connectivity Pathways  

Lamott gave a brief synopsis of the letter developed by HRC and Fraser that was sent to 
Congressman, Andy Levin’s office, at his request, for grant monies that could fund Connectivity 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 11 of 33 

 

 

Pathways. The Village was not able to apply for the funds as they did not qualify for the find 
disbursement.  
 
Lamott suggested the Planning Commission review it so we could improve walkability in the 
Village.  
 
Gordon pointed out that the proposed plan seemed to indicate the need for approval from 
affected residents. He was not sure if residents would agree to participate.  
 
Zmich from HRC gave a brief synopsis for the Council. The proposed total is $765,000.00. In 
response to Hanke, he agreed that the proposal was all- inclusive with normal built-in 
contingences.  
 
The goal of this project was to provide connectivity of the subdivisions to connect them to each 
other and to downtown Franklin.  
 
Zmich agreed with Gordon that the map was not exact, and it would be contingent upon 
easements acquisition.   
 
Erlich liked the idea and reminisced of her childhood pathway usage.  
 
Hanke stated that his lake property did this exact concept and created a seven (7) mile loop 
around the lake and changed the entire dynamic and enhanced community enjoyment. It was a 
long-term plan and took sixteen (16) years to acquire the easements, but it was worth it.  
 
Saenz asked if HRC has seen this concept in comparable communities.  Zmich stated that it was 
not uncommon with communities that did not have sidewalks. Saenz persisted that he was on 
board with walkability but was not comfortable with sidewalks going through someone’s yard. He 
is open to a PC review but uncomfortable with the concept. 
 
Seltzer said he felt there already was an element of walkability in the Village.  
 
Gordon agreed with Hanke that he has another property that has a similar walk path for his 
morning run.  He would like to see this accomplished but with a long-term vision.  
 
Rick David asked, for the sake of procedure, who authorized the initial cost for HRC to prepare an 
estimate for the Connectivity Pathways. Lamott clarified that he authorized the amount of around 
$2,000.00 as encouraged by Congressman Any Levin’s Office.   
 
Motion by Gordon, seconded by Seltzer to submit the Connectivity Pathways Program to 
the Planning Commission for their review and recommendation.  
 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 12 of 33 

 

 

       
      AYES:        Saenz, Hansen, Hanke, Erlich, Gordon, Seltzer and Lamott  
      NAYS:        None  
 
      Motion carried. 

 
X. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Consider (2nd reading) to amend Ordinance; Section 1268.28; Creating 
Standards for Garden Enclosures amendments are proposed to Section 
1268.28, Fences, to create standards for enclosures around gardens, 
including requirements governing their locations, size, and materials. 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2021-03 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 1268.28, ZONING, OF THE CODIFIED ORDINANCES 
OF THE VILLAGE OF FRANKLIN, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN, TO ADOPT REGULATIONS 
CONCERNING GARDEN FENCE STANDARDS. 
THE VILLAGE OF FRANKLIN ORDAINS: 
 

1268.28   FENCES. 

   Every fence constructed or erected in the Village shall comply with the regulations in this 
section.  No fence shall be erected, constructed, relocated, or altered until a permit has been 
issued in accordance with the requirements of this section. 

    

(a)   Definitions. 

      (1)   Fence.  “Fence” means an artificially constructed, non-vegetative barrier of natural 
or artificial materials used to prevent or control ingress/egress, confine within, or mark a 
boundary. A fence may be decorative or ornamental. Gates or barriers to entry and exit, 
driveway entrance features, screening walls, and other types of boundary protection shall 
be included in this definition. 
 

      (2)   Perimeter feature.  “Perimeter feature” means a type of fence running along the 
perimeter of a lot either on or within six feet of a lot line. 

 

      (3)   Privacy screen.  “Privacy screen” means a type of fence that is a substantially 
opaque barrier intended to screen a selected use or particular area in a private residential 
yard. 

 

      (4)   Interior fence.  “Interior fence” means a type of fence that is not a perimeter feature 
or a privacy screen. 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 13 of 33 

 

 

 

      (5)   Road.  “Road” has the same meaning as “street” as defined in Section 1240.08 
(b)(69). 

 

      (6)   Construction fence.  “Construction fence” means a temporary artificially 
constructed fence used to prevent or control entrance or access pursuant to a permit 
issued by the Village of Franklin Building Official under Section 1268.19  of the Zoning 
Code. 

 

      (7)   Garden enclosure.  “Garden enclosure” is a type of interior fence that is used to 
enclose an area used for the growing of vegetables, flowers, etc. used for human 
consumption but not for commercial sale. 

    

(b)   General Requirements Applicable to All Fences. 

      (1)   Ownership.  Ownership and responsibility for maintenance of a fence resides in the 
owner of the property on which the fence is located. 

 

         A.   Provision for joint ownership.  Owners of adjoining properties may jointly apply 
for a fence permit, in which case the Building Official may permit the fence to be 
constructed on the common property line.  Both property owners shall jointly own the 
fence and shall be jointly and severably responsible for maintenance of the fence. 

 

      (2)   Fence materials.  In order to protect the beauty and established historic character 
of the Village, the following standards shall apply: 

 

         A.   The exterior of a fence shall be constructed primarily of wood, stone, brick, 
wrought iron, or other material determined by the Zoning Board of Appeals to mimic an 
above listed material. 

 

         B.   Fence materials and construction pattern must be consistent along a single lot line. 

         C.   Fences constructed on properties where one did not exist before must be 
constructed of the same material along any lot line where the fence is proposed to be 
constructed. 

 

         D.   Prohibited materials.  Razor wire and barbed wire are prohibited on any type of 
fence.  Fences utilizing wire mesh or chain link are also prohibited, except as otherwise 
expressly permitted (e.g., garden enclosures, tennis court enclosures, dog runs, baseball 
backstops, cemeteries, fences enclosing public areas, construction fences). 

 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 14 of 33 

 

 

         E.   Prohibited designs.  No permitted fence of any variety may contain decorative 
fence toppers, finials, spears or other fence toppers which contain a pointed finish if such 
decorative items are situated along the top of the primary fencing material.  Ball finials are 
permissible but only if they measure not less than three inches each in diameter.  A fence 
topper shall be considered to be pointed if the upper most portion of the topper is not 
larger than its base, or, if in the opinion of the Building Official, such a fence topper is 
considered to be capable of impaling or otherwise penetrating the flesh of any person or 
animal, either intentionally or through accidental or forceful contact with same. 

 

         F.   Electricity-conducting fences.  A fence erected around the perimeter of a pasture 
where horses or other permitted large animals are restrained may include electrified wire 
strands around the top or interior of the pasture fence.  Other fences which carry electric 
current are prohibited, except for underground electric fences as defined in Section 
1240.08 (b)(23A). 

 
      (3)   Finished appearance.  If, because of design or construction, one side of a fence has a 

more finished appearance than the other, the side of the fence with the more finished 

appearance shall face the exterior of the lot. This provision concerning the finished 

appearance does not apply to jointly owned fences located on a property line. 

 

      (4)   Height.  Except as otherwise expressly permitted herein, fences shall not exceed 48 
inches in height. As used in this section, the height of a fence is measured from the 
surrounding surface of the ground and not from any structure or localized raised surface 
on which the fence is situated. 

 

         A.   Fences enclosing public areas.  Fences that enclose public parks, playgrounds, or 
similar public areas located within a residential district shall not exceed 8 feet in height, 
except that a fence enclosing one or more public tennis courts can extend to 12 feet in 
height and a protective screening used for a public baseball field backstop can be made at a 
suitable height and length for its intended purpose. Tennis court fences and baseball 
backstops can be made of chain link fencing. 

 

      (5)   Location.  A fence shall be located entirely on the private property of the person 
responsible for the construction and maintenance of the fence. 

 

         A.   Permitted locations.  Except as specifically provided below, fences are permitted 
only in rear yards and side yards. No fence shall be permitted to extend into the front yard, 
except as otherwise specifically provided herein. For side yards and rear yards abutting a 
street, no fence shall be constructed or maintained within any required setback from the 
street. 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 15 of 33 

 

 

 

         B.   Path setback.  No fence shall be located closer than 12 inches from the edge of a 
public sidewalk or other public path. 

 

      (6)   Fence maintenance.  Fences shall be maintained in good condition. Rotten or 
broken components shall be replaced, repaired, or removed. If a fence is found to be in 
need of repair by the Building Official, he or she shall issue orders to complete such repairs 
to the owner of the land where the fence is located. Failure to comply with written notice 
from the Building Official shall be deemed a violation of this Zoning Code. 

 

      (7)   Obstruction of use of adjoining property.  No fence shall be erected where it would 
prevent or unreasonably obstruct the use of or access to adjacent property. The Building 
Official may require a fence to be set back up to two feet from a driveway or property line 
to provide for the safe passage of pedestrians, bicyclists, or vehicular traffic, or for other 
safety-related concerns. 

 

      (8)   Driver visibility. No fence shall be erected, established or maintained on any lot 
which will obstruct the view of drivers in vehicles traveling around sharp curves in the 
road or approaching an intersection of two roads or the intersection of a road and a 
driveway. 

 

         A.   Sharp curves. Fences located along a curve in a road shall provide drivers with an 
unobstructed sight distance that is reasonable in view of the road curvature and applicable 
speed limit for the road. The Building Official may restrict or deny a fence permit as 
necessary to provide this unobstructed sight distance. 

 

         B.   Intersections. Fences located adjacent to an intersection of two roads or an 
intersection of a road and a driveway shall not exceed 30 inches in height. An unobstructed 
triangular area shall be maintained at each intersection of roads and streets and driveways. 
Fences located in the triangular area shall not be permitted to obstruct cross-visibility 
above a height of 30 inches above the lowest point of the intersecting road(s) or 
driveway(s). The unobstructed triangular area shall consist of: 

 

            1.   In the case of two roads, the triangular area formed at the corner intersection of 
the two road right-of-way lines, with two sides of the triangular area being 25 feet in length 
measured along the intersecting right-of-way lines, and the third side being a line 
connecting the distal ends of the two 25 foot sides; and 

 

            2.   In the case of an intersecting road and driveway, the triangular area formed at the 
corner intersection of the road right of way and an edge of the driveway, with one side of 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 16 of 33 

 

 

the triangular area being ten feet in length measured along the right-of-way line, a second 
side being 10 feet in length measured along the edge of the driveway, and the third side 
being a line connecting the distal ends of the two ten foot two sides. 
 

      (9)   Tennis court enclosures. A private tennis court located on a residential lot may 
include a chain link fence enclosing each end of the court and extending towards the net no 
farther than the  midpoint between the base line and service line. The chain link fence  may 
have a maximum height of 12 feet and the opacity of such fence shall not exceed 50 percent. 

 

      (10)   Outdoor dog runs. One fenced pet exercise area ("dog run") may be permitted per 
residential lot, subject to the following: 

 

         A.   Location. A dog run shall not be permitted in any required front yard or required 
street side yard. 

 

         B.   Setback. A dog run shall be set back a minimum of ten feet from any lot line. 

 

         C.   Fence height. A fence enclosing a dog run shall not exceed six feet in height. 

 

         D.   Fence materials. Chain link fencing may be used to enclose a dog run. 

 

         E.   Maximum dimensions. Dog runs shall not exceed ten feet in width by 25 feet in 
length. 

 

         F.   Landscape screening. Dog runs shall be screened from view from adjoining 
properties with evergreen landscaping sufficient to create a complete visual barrier. 

    (11)    Garden enclosures.  Garden enclosures may be placed on the interior of a lot, 
subject to the following:   

 

A.  Location.  A garden enclosure shall not be permitted in any front yard nor any 
required side or rear yard.  

 

B.  Height.  Garden enclosures shall not exceed eight feet in height, inclusive of any 
structures on which they sit, including raised planter beds. 

 

C.  Materials.  Garden enclosures shall be constructed of any combination of treated 
wood or galvanized or welded wire, which may be coated with vinyl or PVC.  The 
fencing commonly referred to as “chicken wire” is expressly permitted, only so 
long as it is made of galvanized wire.  Chain link fencing is a prohibited material.  



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 17 of 33 

 

 

 

D.  Opacity.  Garden enclosures’ opacity shall not exceed 20 percent. 

 

E.  Spacing.  There shall be a maximum spacing of 1” by 2” between the enclosure 
wires. 

 

F.  Maximum area.  Garden enclosures shall surround an area not larger than 1,000 
square feet.  Multiple garden enclosures may be permitted on one lot, subject to 
the following allowances: 

 

TABLE OF ALLOWANCES FOR GARDEN ENCLOSURES 

Zoning 
District 

R-E R-L R-M R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 

Maximum 
number of 
enclosures 

3 3 3 3 2 2 1 

Maximum 
size of all 
garden 
enclosures 
in sq. ft. 

1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 

 
Fraser responded to Gordon’s question stating there had not been any discussion from the 
community, Planning Commission, or the Administrator since the First Reading.  
 
Erlich, being the Village Council Liaison to the Planning Commissions, reported to the Council 
that she can attest, with confidence, that each item they review has been thoroughly vetted.   
 
Motion by Seltzer, seconded by Erlich to approve to amend Ordinance; Section 1268.28; 
Creating Standards for Garden Enclosures amendments are proposed to Section 
1268.28, Fences, to create standards for enclosures around gardens, including 
requirements governing their locations, size, and materials as presented.  
 

      AYES:        Saenz, Hansen, Hanke, Erlich, Gordon, Seltzer and Lamott  
      NAYS:        None  
 
      Motion carried. 

 
B. Consider (2nd reading) to amend Ordinance 1240.08; and Ordinances 1250 

and 1256;  Creating a Public / Institutional Zoning District –,  amendments 
are proposed to Chapter 1240.08, Definitions; Chapter 1250, Single-Family 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 18 of 33 

 

 

Residential Districts; Chapter 1256, C-1 Commercial District; and Appendix 
B, Schedule of Regulations to address the proposed regulation of land in the 
newly-created Public Institutional District and to address other Code 
sections to account for a comprehensive regulatory approach to same.  

  
 
ORDINANCE NO. 2021-02 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTIONS 1240.08, 1250.02,1250.03, 1256.02, 1256.06, AND 
TO ADD SECTION 1259 (PI PUBLIC INSTITUTIONAL DISTRICT), ZONING, OF THE 
CODIFIED ORDINANCES OF THE VILLAGE OF FRANKLIN, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN, 
TO ADOPT REGULATIONS NEW ZONING DISTRICT TITLED “PI, PUBLIC/INSTITUTIONAL.” 
THE VILLAGE OF FRANKLIN ORDAINS: 
 
 Chapter 1240.08 DEFINITIONS 
 

Special event.  “Special event” means a temporary indoor or outdoor use on private or 

public property that extends beyond the normal uses and standards allowed in the Zoning 

Code, including, but not limited to, art shows, music and other artistic performances, 

festivals, and bazaars.   

 

Chapter 1259 
PI Public Institutional District 
1259.01  Statement of purpose 
1259.02  Permitted uses 
1259.03  Special approval uses 
1259.04  Accessory uses, buildings and structures 
1259.05  Off-street parking facilities 
1259.06  Protective screening 
1259.07  Site plan approval 
1259.08  Area, height, bulk and placement requirements 
 
 
1259.01  STATEMENT OF PURPOSE 
The PI Public Institutional District is intended to recognize the public, quasi-public, and 

institutional nature of particular parcels of land and provide standards and guidelines for 

their continued use and future development; to ensure that those public, quasi-public, and 

institutional land uses will be compatible with the surrounding districts and uses; and to 

ensure that the public, quasi-public, and institutional use of property will promote the most 

desirable use of land in accordance with the Village’s Master Plan.  

 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 19 of 33 

 

 

 
1259.02  PERMITTED USES 
In the PI District, the following uses are permitted: 

a) Municipal buildings, offices, community centers and facilities owned and operated 

by the Village of Franklin for the purposes of the government of the Village of 

Franklin.  

b) Public, quasi-public, and institutional buildings, offices, centers and facilities, such 

as, but not limited to libraries and post offices, owned or operated by governmental 

or quasi-governmental entities for the purposes of providing civic services and 

functions. 

c) Public parks and public recreation areas operated by governmental, quasi-

governmental, or private entities exclusively for the use and enjoyment of the 

public. 

d) Churches and other facilities normally incidental thereto, including but not limited 

to community and civic group meetings, events and activities, and religious, social, 

cultural and educational services, instruction and programs. A proposed site for a 

church shall not be less than two acres, shall have adequate access to all required 

off-street parking areas, and be located on a site adjacent to a major thoroughfare as 

defined by the Village’s Master Plan. 

e) Public, parochial and private elementary, junior high and / or senior high schools 

offering courses in general education, which may contain libraries and other 

facilities customarily found within a school, not operated for profit, and situated on 

a site not less than two acres. 

f) Public utility buildings, telephone exchange buildings, electronic transformer 

stations and substations, and gas regulator stations, but not including service or 

storage yards, when operating requirements necessitate the locating of such uses in 

order to serve the immediate vicinity. 

g) Museums displaying or exhibiting items or artifacts of an historical nature and not 

operated for profit.  

h) Accessory structures, buildings, uses and signs, customarily incidental to the above 

permitted uses in accordance with Section 1268.13. 

 
1259.04  SPECIAL APPROVAL USES 
Reserved. 
1259.04  ACCESSORY USES, BUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES 
The following accessory uses, buildings and structures shall be permitted in the PI District, 
subject to Section 1268.13: 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 20 of 33 

 

 

a) Accessory structures, uses and signs, excluding buildings, customarily incidental to 

uses permitted by Section 1259.02. 

b) Accessory buildings customarily incidental to uses permitted by Section 1256.02, 

subject to site plan requirements in Section 1268.30. 

c) The Village of Franklin encourages the development and use of alternative energy 

sources, such as energy generated by solar and wind facilities, provided that the 

devices to generate, process and store the energy are safe and will cause no harm to 

the well-being of adjacent residents or the surrounding area as a whole.  Solar and 

wind energy facilities, whether freestanding or attached to the principal building, 

are considered accessory structures and require site plan review and special use 

approval.  Alternative energy facilities, considered accessory structures, are subject 

to the following site plan and use approval requirements: 

 

1. Wind energy facilities, whether freestanding or attached to the principal 
building, require site plan review in accordance with Section 1268.30 and 
special use approval in accordance with Section 1268.32. 

2. Ground-mounted solar energy facilities require site plan review in accordance 
with Section 1268.30, and special use approval in accordance with Section 
1268.32. 

3. Roof-mounted solar energy facilities require zoning compliance approval in 
accordance with Section 1242.02 and shall comply with Section 1268.13A, Roof-
Mounted Solar Energy Systems. 

d) Special events, limited to four consecutive calendar days, single days for two 

consecutive weeks, or two consecutive weekends.  If in excess of four consecutive 

calendar days, single days for two consecutive weeks, or weekend events for more 

than two consecutive weekends, a special event shall be subject to the requirements 

in Section 1268.32(h). 

 

e) Retail activity.  In the PI District, a limited amount of retail activity is permitted 

where the retail activity is accessory to the principal public, quasi-public, and 

institutional use of property. Retail activity shall be deemed an acceptable accessory 

use if the following criteria are met: 

1. Character of the principal use.  The principal use on the site must be public, 

quasi-public, or institutional in character.  The retail activity must be an integral 

part of the principal use such that separation of the public, quasi-public, or 

institutional and retail activity would adversely affect operating and 

management procedures.   

2. Percent of floor area.  The retail activity shall occupy no more than 49% of the 

total floor area or 1,000 square feet, whichever is less. 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 21 of 33 

 

 

3. Compatibility of traffic.  The type and quantity of traffic generated by the retail 

sales operation shall be compatible with permitted uses in the district. 

 
1259.05  OFF-STREET PARKING FACILITIES 
Off-street parking facilities shall be provided as specified in Chapter 1262, with the further 
condition that no parking be permitted in the required front yard, said front yard area 
being the 40-foot yard space abutting the front property line, nor within the required side 
or rear setback adjacent to any side or rear property zoned R-1, R-2, R-3 or R-4, or which is 
adjacent to any property or lot used for residential purposes.  (See Section 1262.02 for off-
street parking development regulations.) 

 
1259.06  PROTECTIVE SCREENING 
PI parcels adjacent to property within a Single-Family Residential District or used for 
residential purposes shall provide protective screening in compliance with the regulations 
set forth in Sections 1268.28 and 1268.29. 
 
1259.07  SITE PLAN APPROVAL 
For all uses in the PI District, site plan approval is required in compliance with the 
requirements set forth in Section 1268.30. 
 
1259.08  AREA, HEIGHT, BULK AND PLACEMENT REQUIREMENTS 
Area, height, bulk and placement requirements for the PI District shall be as established in 
the schedule provided in Appendix B following the text of this Zoning Code.  
Chapter 1250 
Single-Family Residential Districts 
 
1250.01   Statement of purpose. (no change proposed) 
1250.02   Permitted uses. (housekeeping change proposed, text provided for context) 
1250.03   Special approval uses. (no change proposed, but text provided for context) 
1250.04   Accessory uses, buildings and structures. (no change proposed)  
1250.05   Site plan review. (no change proposed) 
1250.06   Area, height, bulk and placement requirements. (no change proposed)  
1250.07   Lot dimensions. (no change proposed)  
 
1250.02   PERMITTED USES. 
In all Single-Family Residential Districts, the following uses are permitted: 

a) Single-family detached dwellings. 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 22 of 33 

 

 

b) Public parks and public recreation areas operated by governmental, quasi-
governmental, or private entities exclusively for the use and enjoyment of the 
public. 

c) State licensed residential facilities, subject to the provisions of Section 206 of the 
Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, PA 110 of 2006, as amended (MCL 125.3206). 

d) Accessory structures, buildings, uses and signs, customarily incidental to the above 
permitted uses in accordance with Section 1268.13. 

1250.03   SPECIAL APPROVAL USES. 
In all Single-Family Residential Districts, the following uses shall be permitted only after 
approval in accordance with Section 1268.32. 

a) Municipal buildings, offices, community centers and facilities owned and operated 
by the Village of Franklin for the purposes of the government of the Village of 
Franklin.   

b) Public, quasi-public, and institutional buildings, offices, centers and facilities, such 
as, but not limited to libraries and post offices, owned or operated by governmental 
or quasi-governmental entities for the purposes of providing civic services and 
functions.   

c) Churches and other facilities normally incidental thereto, including but not limited 
to community and civic group meetings, events and activities, and religious, social, 
cultural and educational services, instruction and programs.  A proposed site for a 
church shall not be less than two acres, shall have adequate access to all required 
off-street parking areas, shall prohibit parking in the required front yard and be 
located on a site adjacent to a major thoroughfare as defined by the Village's Master 
Plan. 

d) Public, parochial and private elementary, junior high and/or senior high schools 
offering courses in general education, which may contain libraries and other 
facilities customarily found within a school, not operated for profit, and situated on 
a site not less than two acres. 

e) Public utility buildings, telephone exchange buildings, electric transformer stations 
and substations, and gas regulator stations, but not including service or storage 
yards, when operating requirements necessitate the locating of such uses in order to 
serve the immediate vicinity. 

f) Museums displaying or exhibiting items or artifacts of an historical nature and not 
operated for profit.  It is the express intent of this section to prohibit any displays or 
exhibits of a commercial nature or which are operated for profit, provided, however, 
that certain nonprofit activities may be permitted under Section 1268.32 (h). 
 
The following additional conditions shall apply to any special approval use under 
this subsection: 
      (1)   No item or display shall bear any indication of cost, value or price. 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 23 of 33 

 

 

      (2)   No income, revenue or compensation of any kind shall be received as part of 
any such museum use or exhibition, except that a nominal door fee or entrance fee 
may be imposed. 
      (3)   No artifact, souvenir or any other article or item of any type or nature 
whatsoever shall be offered for sale upon the premises. 
      (4)   All exhibitions, displays or programs shall be related to the history of the 
Village of Franklin, the State of Michigan or the United States. 
      (5)   No museum shall be located closer than 2,500 feet to any other museum. 
 

Chapter 1256 
C-1 Commercial District 
 
1256.01   Statement of purpose. (no change proposed) 
1256.02   Permitted uses. (change proposed to add “fire station”) 
1256.03   Special approval uses. (no change proposed) 
1256.04   Accessory uses, buildings and structures. (no change proposed) 
1256.05   Site plan review. (no change proposed) 
1256.06   Protective screening (“housekeeping” change proposed) 
1256.07   Area, height, bulk and placement requirements. (no change proposed)  
1256.02   PERMITTED USES. 
In the C-1 District, the following uses are permitted: 
   (a)   All uses permitted in the RO-1 District. 
   (b)   Automobile service stations, subject to the requirements of Section 1268.15. 
   (c)   Bake shops, provided that at least 75% of all baked goods produced on the premises 

are sold on said premises at retail, and further provided that floor area used for bakery 
production shall be limited to 500 square feet per establishment. 

   (d)   Bank, savings and loan, brokerage or other type of financial institution. 
   (e)   Barber shop. 
   (f)   Beauty shop. 
   (g)   Clothes pressing and repair. 
   (h)   Custom dressmaking, millinery and tailoring. 
   (i)   Fire station. 
 (j) Household furniture and appliance shops. 
   (k) Institutions and establishments of a philanthropic or charitable nature, but not 

including car washes, credit unions and other related activities operated or sponsored 
by such institutions or establishments. 

 (l) Laundry agency or dry cleaning agency and hand laundry, except laundry and dry 
cleaning establishments with customer-operated equipment. 

   (m) Public utility buildings, telephone exchange buildings, electric transformer stations 
and substations and gas regulator stations. 

   (n) Repairs to electrical or other household appliances, locks, radios, televisions, shoes, 
time pieces and the like. 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 24 of 33 

 

 

   (o) Restaurants, but not including drive-in or drive-thru restaurants. 
   (p) Carry-out restaurants. 
   (q) Outdoor dining, subject to the provisions in Section 1268.33. 
   (r) Retail food stores. 
 (s) Shops or stores for the retail sale of art supplies, beverages, confections, delicatessen, 

drugs, dry goods, flowers, food stuffs including meats, gifts, hardware, jewelry, leather 
goods, music, notions, paint, periodicals, sewing machines for households only, sports 
goods, stamps or coins, stationery, sundry, small household articles, tobacco or wearing 
apparel. 

   (t) Single family residential uses, when located on the second floor of a building that is 
designed for a retail, service, or office use on the first floor. 

 (u)  Accessory structures, uses and signs, excluding buildings, customarily incidental to the 
above permitted uses in accordance with Section 1268.13, subject to the following 
restrictions: 

      (1)   Outdoor advertising signs, only when pertaining to the sale, rental or use of the 
premises on which they are located, or to goods sold or activities conducted thereon, 
shall be displayed flat against the front or side elevation of the building and shall not 
project above the roof line. (See also Chapter 1474 of these Codified Ordinances.) 

 
 (v)  Off-street parking and loading, in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 1262, 

provided that, on or after December 5, 2005: 
      (1)   No new parking or loading area shall be established on a parcel unless a principal 

permitted structure is first constructed on the parcel; and 
      (2)   No new parking or loading facilities shall be located in the front yard (between the 

front face of the building and the street) except by special approval. Where front yard 
parking is proposed, the applicant must demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Planning 
Commission and Village Council that: 

         A.   No other reasonable and safe location for parking exists on the site and that front 
yard parking can be provided without compromising vehicular or pedestrian traffic 
safety; and 

         B.   The proposed parking satisfies the special approval criteria in Section 1268.32. 
 
Appendix B 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 25 of 33 

 

 

 
Schedule of Regulations 
*   Site Plan Review required for those items.  Also for P-1 and H Districts (see Chapters 

1258 and 1230) 
**   The minimum cubic content shall be calculated as defined herein (see Section 

1240.07(20)) 
a) The maximum building height in the R-E, R-L, R-M, R-1, and R-2 districts shall be 

determined in accordance with the following graphic representation 1 or mathematical 
representation 2: 

 
1256.06   PROTECTIVE SCREENING. 
C-1 parcels adjacent to land within a Single-Family Residential District or used for 
residential purposes shall provide protective screening in compliance with the regulations 
set forth in Sections 1268.28 and 1268.29. 
 
Graphic representation 1:  In the appropriate location and at the proper scale on the front 

elevation, draw a 15' x 20' "measurement triangle" as illustrated below.  Extend the 
dashed line to 35 feet high.  No portion of the building may extend into the setback or 
above the dashed line. 

      Mathematical representation 2:  The maximum permitted height relative to the side 
property line is equal to: (1.33 x side setback measured in feet), up to a maximum 
height at the peak of roof of 35 feet. 

b) The total of both side setbacks shall not be less than one-third (1/3) of the lot width.  
The smaller of the side setbacks shall be equal to or greater than 37% of the total of 
both side setbacks. 

Zoning 
District 

Maximum Lot 
Coverage 
(percentage) 

Minimum Size of 
Lot 

Maximum 
Height of 
Building in 
Feet 

Minimum Yard Setbacks in Feet 
(Unobstructed) 

Minimum 
Cubic 
Content 
per 
Dwelling 
Unit in 
Cubic Feet 

Area per 
Dwelling 
Unit in 
Sq. Ft. 

Width 
in 
Feet 

Front At 
Least 
One 
Side 

Total 
of 
Two 
Sides 

Side Yard 
Adjacent 
to a 
Street 

Rear 

R-E 10 130,000 120 (a)(c) 50 (b) (b) 50 (c) 30,000 

R-L 15 65,000 120 (a)(c) 50 (b) (b) 50 (c) 30,000 

R-M 25 42,000 120 (a)(c) 50 (b) (b) 50 (c) 30,000 

R-1 25 30,000 120 (a)(c) 50 (b) (b) 50 (c) 30,000 

R-2 30 22,500 100 (a)(c) 40 (b) (b) 40 (c) 22,500 

R-3 35 15,000 80 27 30 10 25 30 40 20,000 

R-4 35 12,000 80 27 20 10 25 20 30 15,000 

RO-1 30 * * 14 ½ 40 12 35 40 35 * 

C-1 * * * 14 ½ * * * * * * 

PI * * * 29 * * * * * * 



 

Proceedings, Village Council Special Meeting 

on Monday, July 19, 2021, at 7:00 PM  Page 26 of 33 

 

 

c) In the  R-E, R-L, R-M, R-1, and R-2 districts, the maximum height measured at the rear of 
the building shall be determined using a measurement triangle, in accordance with the 
following guidelines (see graphic 2): 
1. Extend the average grade line horizontally from the rear face of the house to the 

rear property line (point A). 
2. Mark the 40-foot rear yard setback (35-foot in the R-2 district) on the horizontal 

grade line. 
3. At the 40-foot mark (35-foot mark in the R-2 district), extend a 20-foot long line 

upward and perpendicular to the horizontal grade line. The top of the perpendicular 
line is point B. 

4. Connect points A and B and extend the line until it intersects the maximum height 
line established for the front elevation. 

5. No portion of the building may extend into the setback or above the rear elevation 
maximum height line. 

 

SECTION 12.02 – SCHEDULE OF REGULATIONS 
 
All buildings, structures, uses and parcels of land shall comply with the regulations set 
forth in the following Schedule of Regulations and footnotes thereto, except as otherwise 
provided for accessory buildings and structures under Section 13.11. 
 



 

 

Table 12.02 SCHEDULE OF REGULATIONS  
 

Zoning 
District 

Lot Minimum 

Maximum 
Lot 
Coverage  

Maximum 
Building  
Height 
(feet) 

Minimum Setback Requirement 
(Feet) Min Floor 

Area(sq. ft.) 
per Dwelling 
Unit  b, j 

Max. 1st 
Floor 
Area (sq. 
ft.) 

Area  
(sq. ft.) 

Width  
(feet) 

Front  
(Stree
t) 

Each  
Side Rear 

Water 
Front 
c 

RV, Village Single 
Family Residential 

7,200k  60 k 40% 30 25 m 10 a, d 25 -- 1,200 -- 

RL, Lake Single 
Family Residential 

7,200 l 60 l 40% 30 25  5 a 25 25  900 -- 

RM, Multiple Family 
Residential 

8,000 g, 

h 
70 g 35% g 40 g 25 25 g 25 25 i -- 

DC, Downtown 
Center 

-- -- -- 42 o p p, f p, f -- i 20,000 

CC, Commercial 
Corridor 

-- 60 40% 42 o  25 e, f f 25 -- -- 

MU, Mixed Use -- 60 50% 42 o  10 q e, f 25 25  

900 (single 
family 
detached)  i 
(single family 
attached) 

12,500 



 

 
 
 

Gordon stated, for sake of discussion, that the proposed Ordinance creates a zoning category and 
at this time there is no part of the Village that is incumbered by this zoning category. What is 
required to make that happen? What do we need to do to make this effective? A change driven by 
zoning laws, the Master Plan?  
 
Goldberg responded to Gordon that it would be 100% at the request of the private property 
owners. The Village Council retains the jurisdiction to rezone anyone’s land within the Villager 
Limits without their request but that was not the intent here. The first step to be considered 
would be Village owned land being rezoned from residential to this category. Private property 
owners that have this Maser Plan designation would do so at their own request. The existing 
Master Plan currently has thirteen (13) properties designated to this category.  
 
Hansen mentioned that years ago, there was a rezoning study conducted by the Planning 
Commission reclassifying zoning districts in the Village to cut done on the non-conforming lots 
within the Village.  Was that because it was all residential and there was no classification change, 
and could certain residents opt out? 
 
Responding to Hansen, Goldberg clarified the study she was referring to didn’t rezone, rather, 
they amended zoning district categories and the size of the properties that fell within those 
categories. Since the ordinance already existed the change was done in the form of an 
amendment. Since this category (PI) didn’t exist, a whole new section of the Zoning Ordinance 
was created to address it with what is proposed.  
 
Lamott stated he was not comfortable with the proposed Ordinance, he felt it may be best to leave 
things alone.  
 
Goldberg stated that it was untraditional to have a category in your Master Plan that designates a 
zoning use and then not then have a zoning use section in your ordinance to provide for it.  A 
resident that has land zoned residential, as it is today, and has Master Plan designating as Public 
Institutional – the Master Plan designation is going to state that. Creating this category, because if 
there is no zoning category to put the property into; your Master Plan is incomplete. None of the 
thirteen (13) properties would ever be rezoned without an amendment to the Zoning Map for 
their property but if you don’t have a zoning category to put it into, you have an incomplete 
zoning category. This recommendation of correction to an inconsistency was brought to the 
Planning Commission by McKenna, their planning consultant. 
 
(A Master Plan is a land usage policy intended for future use a Zoning Map is for current use.) 
 
Motion by Seltzer, seconded by Hanke to approve to amend Ordinance 1240.08; and 
Ordinances 1250 and 1256;  Creating a Public / Institutional Zoning District –,  



Agenda, Village of Franklin, Village Council  Page 29 

Special Meeting, Monday,  June 14, 2021, 7:00 PM 

 

 

amendments are proposed to Chapter 1240.08, Definitions; Chapter 1250, Single-Family 
Residential Districts; Chapter 1256, C-1 Commercial District; and Appendix B, Schedule of 
Regulations to address the proposed regulation of land in the newly-created Public 
Institutional District and to address other Code sections to account for a comprehensive 
regulatory approach to same as presented.  
 
Roll Call Vote 
Hanke  AYE 
Hansen  AYE 
Saenz  AYE 
Seltzer AYE 
Gordon AYE 
Erlich  AYE 
Lamott AYE  
 
Motion carried. 



Agenda, Village of Franklin, Village Council  Page 30 

Special Meeting, Monday,  June 14, 2021, 7:00 PM 

 

 

C. Consider 27281 Ovid Ct. Demolition Application.  
 
Responding to Gordon, Fraser stated the application was complete.  
 
Motion by Gordon, seconded by Seltzer to approve the 27281 Ovid Ct. Demolition 
Application as presented.  
 
      AYES:        Saenz, Hansen, Hanke, Erlich, Gordon, Seltzer and Lamott  
      NAYS:        None  
 
      Motion carried. 

 
D. Consider Civic Events Permit for Mainstreet Franklin Summer Block Party on 

August 18, 2021. 
 
Hanke mentioned that there was an unchecked box on the application that indicated street 
closure, he asked Couf-Cohen to clarify.  
 
Couf-Cohen stated that Chief Roberts had been contacted and he said no to a street closure.  
 
Seltzer asked Couf-Cohen if Chief Roberts had a reason for denying the street closure. Couf-Cohen 
said no. Fraser stated Chief had indeed made a comment and he would require additional 
resources to accommodate overtime.  
 
Hanke insisted the application should request street closure.  He strongly felt a street closure 
would enhance the attendee experience.  
 
Saenz stated his hesitation with moving in a direction contrary to the direction of the Chief of 
Police in his absence and it was his desire to defer to his decision and that safety is paramount.  
 
The Council agreed that an official request for a street closure should be submitted to Chief 
Roberts and his decision would stand.  
 
Gordon inquired of parking access and a proposed street closure. The church parking lot and an 
office building behind the grill.  Couf-Cohen stated the road would be closed at Fourteen Mile and 



Agenda, Village of Franklin, Village Council  Page 31 

Special Meeting, Monday,  June 14, 2021, 7:00 PM 

 

 

Franklin and at Carol, so motorist going northbound would be diverted to the church and 
motorist going southbound on Franklin Road would be diverted to the office building parking lot.  
 
The Retailers will be encouraged to participate and offer incentives and/or promotions to 
spotlight their business’.  
 
Hanke proposed amending the motion to include a request for street closure pending the 
approval of the Chief of Police, Dan Roberts.  
 
Motion by Seltzer, Seconded by Erlich to approve the Civic Events Permit for Mainstreet 
Franklin Summer Block Party on August 18, 2021, to include a request for the street 
closure, pending the approval of Chief Dan Roberts as amended.  
 
      AYES:        Saenz, Hansen, Hanke, Erlich, Gordon, Seltzer and Lamott  
      NAYS:        None  
 
      Motion carried. 

  
E. Consider Civic Events Permit for Tot Shabbat on August 14, 2021.  

 
Motion by Seltzer, seconded by Gordon to approve the Civic Events Permit for Tot Shabbat 
on August 14, 2021, as presented.  
 
     AYES:        Saenz, Hansen, Hanke, Erlich, Gordon, Seltzer and Lamott  
     NAYS:        None  
 
     Motion carried. 

 
F. Consider Civic Events Permit for Movie on the Green on August 4, 11 and 18, 

2021. 
 

Motion by Seltzer, seconded by Erlich to approve the Civic Events Permit for Movie on the 
Green on August 4, 11 and 18, 2021 as presented.  

 
   AYES:        Saenz, Hansen, Hanke, Erlich, Gordon, Seltzer and Lamott  
   NAYS:        None  
 
   Motion carried. 

 
 
 
 



Agenda, Village of Franklin, Village Council  Page 32 

Special Meeting, Monday,  June 14, 2021, 7:00 PM 

 

 

Fraser stated the this a request for the Council to Consider Improvements to Crestwood/13 
Mile failed to make it onto the Agenda.  
 
Fraser recommended the Council approve a request for proposals be sent out to address concerns 
on Crestwood and Thirteen Mile. The east bound section of Crestwood would remain one lane 
and the (south)west bound section will be widen two (2) lanes and to create a larger landing pad 
where the south bound “Y” intersects with Thirteen (13) Mile. Council agreed it was a dangerous 
intersection, they were open to reviewing bids and exploring other options to correct the 
problem.  
 
Erlich inquired of Fraser if there were available grant funds the Village could apply for in regard 
to Thirteen Mile. Fraser was not familiar. Zmich mentioned it is a Tri Fund for Thirteen Mile Road.  
 
Motion be Seltzer, seconded by Lamott to approve a Request for Proposals be sent out to 
address concerns on Crestwood and Thirteen Mile. 
 
   AYES:        Saenz, Hansen, Hanke, Erlich, Gordon, Seltzer and Lamott  
   NAYS:        None  
 
   Motion carried. 
 

G. Discussion Storm Water Maintenance Plan. 
 
Ed Zmich of Hubbell, Roth, and Clark gave a synopsis of the Storm Water Maintenance Plan. He 
suggested an estimate of    $40,000.00, to include regular maintenance and any issues uncovered 
in the process requiring attention, to be added to the budget moving forward.  HRC will present a 
proposal to the Council.  
 
Lamott expressed concern as the recent storm had raised the seriousness of a regular 
maintenance program. He suggested an amount of $50,000.00 with a focus on downtown 
Franklin.  
 
Gordon was interested in a proposal of the current status of the storm water system in order to 
create a maintenance benchmark. He also mentioned that the Council had not been informed by 
engineering firms of available grants, now obsolete, that could have funded this issue and he 
found that frustrating.  
 
Hansen stated that Nowak and Frause (NFE) had done extensive work on the Storm Sewers and 
their findings could be used to enhance future maintenance efforts. She supports the    



Agenda, Village of Franklin, Village Council  Page 33 

Special Meeting, Monday,  June 14, 2021, 7:00 PM 

 

 

maintenance program, but there is a need for more data from NFE and more bids to ensure a fair 
bid process.  

 
H. Consider Liquor Committee Recommendation for the Renewal of the 

Franklin Grill Liquor License.  
 

Hansen pointed out that the Liquor Committee had not met, so how could it be approved.  
 
Lamott stated there was a list submitted by the Building Official of items that needed to be 
corrected.  
 
Hansen stated that Dinnan said the liquor license is expiring in 2022 in his report. So, there is no 
issue.  
 
Fraser will confirm and if so, a Special Meeting can be held.  
 

XI. ADJOURNMENT 
 
  Motion by Seltzer, seconded by Saenz to adjourn.  
 
  AYES:         Seltzer, Saenz, Hansen, Hanke, Erlich, Gordon and Lamott  
  NAYS:         None  
 
  Motion carried.  

 
  There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 9:20 PM. 

  
  
                                                                                                             William Lamott 

                                                                                                                          Village Council President  
 
  
                                                                                                                                _____________________________ 
 

                                                                                                             Heather Mydloski 
                                                                                                                          Village Clerk 
 
  
                                                                                                                                _____________________________ 

 
  

 
 







To: The Board of Fire Commissioners 

From: Chief of Department Tony Averbuch 

Subject: Report for the 19 July Meeting 

 

Past 18 Months Response Trends:  

0
3
6
9

12
15
18
21
24
27
30
33
36
39
42

D
ec Ja

n
Feb M

ar
A
pr

M
ay

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
ug

Sep O
ct

N
ov

D
ec Ja

n
Feb M

ar
A
pr

M
ay

Ju
n

EMS

Fire/Other

False Alarm

CO Alarm

Power Line Down

Gas Leak

Invalid Assist

Misc. Request

Mutual Aid

HazMat

June Response Information (857):  

INCIDENT TYPE  # INCIDENTS 

Station: ST1 - STATION 1 

113 - Cooking fire, confined to container 1 

251 - Excessive heat, scorch burns with no ignition 2 

321 - EMS call, excluding vehicle accident with injury 33 

322 - Motor vehicle accident with injuries 2 

410 - Combustible/flammable gas/liquid condition, other 1 

412 - Gas leak (natural gas or LPG) 1 

444 - Power line down 4 

554 - Assist invalid 2 

611 - Dispatched & cancelled en route 2 

733 - Smoke detector activation due to malfunction 1 

735 - Alarm system sounded due to malfunction 8 

746 - Carbon monoxide detector activation, no CO 3 

# Incidents for ST1 - Station 1: 60 

 

Average response time for the month (72) 

RESPONSE MODE 
NUMBER of 

APPARATUS 
AVERAGE RESPONSE TIME in MM:SS 

(Dispatch to Arrived) 

Initial Lights and Sirens, 
Downgraded to No Lights or Sirens 

11 5:55 

Lights and Sirens 48 5:37 

No Lights or Sirens 60 5:50 

Total: 119 5:45 

 

Incidents Calls by Hour (1010):           Top Ten Responders (YTD)(1512): 

1. LT Croyle 6. FF Kelly 

2. CAPT Kelly 7. FF Stefancin 

3. LT Johnson 8. FF Rubin 

4. FF Kolar 9. LT Adams 

5. FF Longworth 10. FF Johnson 

 

 



 

 

 

Village Zone Responses for the Previous Month (1285) 

 
 

False alarms that have occurred during the month (1692): 

Incident Date Incident # Address Zone Custom Questions 

611 - Dispatched & cancelled en route 

06/24/2021 2021-21268 26520    Willowgreen  DR       
Franklin,  MI 48025 

Franklin 
Village - 

Residential 

Was this alarm 
caused by 

contractors?: 
Unknown 

06/27/2021 2021-21277 30685  N  Greenbriar         
Franklin,  MI 480254802 

Franklin 
Village - 

Residential 

Was this alarm 
caused by 

contractors?: No 

733 - Smoke detector activation due to malfunction 

06/05/2021 2021-21231 0806    River Crossing         
Bingham Farms,  MI 48025 

Bingham 
Farms - 

Residential 

Was this alarm 
caused by 

contractors?: Yes 

735 - Alarm system sounded due to malfunction 

06/07/2021 2021-21237 32766    Bingham  LN       
Bingham Farms,  MI 480254802 

Bingham 
Farms - 

Residential 

Was this alarm 
caused by 

contractors?: No 

06/08/2021 2021-21240 30800    Timberbrook  LN       
Bingham Farms,  MI 480254802 

Bingham 
Farms - 

Residential 

Was this alarm 
caused by 

contractors?: 
Unknown 

06/12/2021 2021-21245 26955    Wellington  RD       
Franklin,  MI 48025 

Franklin 
Village - 

Residential 

Was this alarm 
caused by 

contractors?: No 

06/12/2021 2021-21256 25815    Franklin Park  DR       
Franklin,  MI 48025 

Franklin 
Village - 

Residential 

Was this alarm 
caused by 

contractors?: No 

06/19/2021 2021-21260 26520    Willowgreen  DR       
Franklin,  MI 48025 

Franklin 
Village - 

Residential 

Was this alarm 
caused by 

contractors?: No 

06/26/2021 2021-21274 25900    Romany  WAY       
Franklin,  MI 48025 

Franklin 
Village - 

Residential 

Was this alarm 
caused by 

contractors?: No 



06/27/2021 2021-21278 29900    Bristol  LN       
Bingham Farms,  MI 480254802 

Bingham 
Farms - 

Residential 

Was this alarm 
caused by 

contractors?: No 

06/28/2021 2021-21280 30715    River Crossing         
Bingham Farms,  MI 480254802 

Bingham 
Farms - 

Residential 

Was this alarm 
caused by 

contractors?: No 

746 - Carbon monoxide detector activation, no CO 

06/16/2021 2021-21252 26393    Normandy  RD       
Franklin,  MI 48025 

Franklin 
Village - 

Residential 

Was this alarm 
caused by 

contractors?: No 

06/26/2021 2021-21271 26393    Normandy  RD       
Franklin,  MI 48025 

Franklin 
Village - 

Residential 

Was this alarm 
caused by 

contractors?: No 

06/26/2021 2021-21272 25240    Franklin Park         
Franklin,  MI 48025 

Franklin 
Village - 

Residential 

Was this alarm 
caused by 

contractors?: No 

 











 

 

248-858-0958 • One Public Works Drive Building • 95 West • Waterford, MI 48328 • www.oakgov.com/water 

July 8, 2021 

 

 

To: The Officials and Representatives of the 15 Municipalities Served 

 by the Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain  

 

Re: Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain Chapter 20 Section 471 Agreement 

 

 

The Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain is under an Administrative Consent Order, issued by 

the Michigan Department of the Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE). The Evergreen-

Farmington Sanitary Drain serves 15 Oakland County municipalities. On behalf of these 

communities, as the Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner, I submitted a Corrective 

Action Plan to EGLE on April 1, 2020. The Administrative Consent Order requires execution of 

this plan by November 1, 2022. The plan includes purchasing additional outlet capacity from the 

Great Lakes Water Authority (GLWA) and the construction of projects along 8 Mile and 

Evergreen Roads. This allows peak wet weather flow from the apportioned communities to reach 

the outlet that discharges to GLWA.  

 

In order to facilitate the Corrective Action Plan projects, two communities petitioned the County 

to form the Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain under Chapter 20 of the drain code. As part of 

the transition to a drain a new service agreement between the customer communities and the 

Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain, often called a 471 Agreement named after section 471 of 

the Drain code, is needed. The Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain 471 agreement: 

 

• Provides the system authority for establishing regional operations  

• Replaces the 1989 intermunicipal agreement, effectively extending the contract beyond the 

bond period (the current agreement expires in 2029) 

• Requires approval of all communities served by the Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain 

• Establishes new community capacities 

• Includes apportionment assessments 

• Includes the preliminary improvement plan and cost estimates 

• Describes rate methodology approach (current methodology is not anticipated to change) 

 

My office has worked on the agreement with the Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain 

communities over the past several months. The last outreach meeting was held on June 28, 2021. 

No additional customer comments were received. Therefore, the provided agreement is amenable 

to all parties. Approval of the 471 Agreement moves the Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain 

one step closer to the goal of getting out of the Administrative Consent Order by reducing the 

frequency and volume of sanitary sewer overflows. The Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain 

Chapter 20 Section 471 Agreement will be on the drain board meeting agenda for approval on 

July 27, 2021.   

 



 

In order to maintain the Corrective Action Plan project schedule, I am seeking your approval and 

signature on the attached Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain Chapter 20 Section 471 

Agreement by August 20, 2021. If you have questions or need support to obtain approval, my 

team and I are here to assist you. We welcome the opportunity to attend a board or council 

meeting to discuss. If you need assistance in seeking approval, please contact Carrie Ricker Cox, 

P.E., at coxc@oakgov.com or 248-470-1314. 

 

Thank you for helping us move this project forward and partnering with my office to work 

towards eliminating both the Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain and customer community 

Administrative Consent Orders to reduce the frequency and volume of sanitary sewer overflows. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

Jim Nash 
 

 



 

 

EVERGREEN-FARMINGTON SANITARY DRAIN DRAINAGE DISTRICT 
CHAPTER 20 SECTION 471 AGREEMENT 

This Agreement, dated the _____ day of __________, 2021, by and among the Drainage 
Board for the Evergreen Farmington Sanitary Drain Drainage District (the “Drainage Board”), the 
City of Auburn Hills, the Village of Beverly Hills, the Village of Bingham Farms, the City of 
Birmingham, the Charter Township of Bloomfield, the City of Bloomfield Hills, the City of 
Farmington, the City of Farmington Hills, the Village of Franklin, the City of Keego Harbor, the 
City of Lathrup Village, the City of Orchard Lake Village, the City of Southfield, the City of Troy 
and the Charter Township of West Bloomfield (each, a “Public Corporation” and collectively, the 
“Public Corporations”).  The Drainage Board and the Public Corporations are sometimes referred 
to each as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 

WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 7674, adopted September 2, 1976, and pursuant to the 
provisions of Act No. 342 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1939, as amended (“Act 342”), the 
County of Oakland (the “County”) established the Evergreen-Farmington Sewage Disposal 
System (the “EFSDS” or the “System”) and designated and appointed the Oakland County Drain 
Commissioner, now the Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner,  as the “county agency” 
for the System pursuant to Act 342 (the “County Agency”), with all the powers and duties with 
respect to the acquisition, construction and financing of facilities for the System as are provided 
by law especially Act 342; and 

WHEREAS, Section 3 of Act 342 authorizes the County Agency to make and execute 
proposed alterations, changes, and extensions of the improvements, facilities, or services 
authorized herein; to locate, acquire, purchase, construct, alter, repair, maintain, and operate the 
improvements, facilities, and services authorized herein and enter into and execute contracts 
therefor; and 

WHEREAS, the County Agency and the Public Corporations serviced by the EFSDS 
entered into the Evergreen and Farmington Sewage Disposal Systems Intermunicipal Contract 
Concerning Wastewater Treatment and Pollution Control Projects, dated September 30, 1989 (the 
“342 Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, certain of the Public Corporations petitioned for the location, establishment 
and construction of an intra-county drain project consisting of the sewage disposal system 
previously known as the EFSDS and all improvements necessary or prudent to bring the EFSDS 
into compliance with Administrative Consent Order 04995 entered by the State of Michigan 
Department of the Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy on August 14, 2019 (the “ACO”); and  

WHEREAS, the Drainage Board named said drain project the Evergreen-Farmington 
Sanitary Drain (the “Drain”, and the improvements to be undertaken to comply with the ACO also 
referred to herein as the “Project”) and named the drainage district composed of the Public 
Corporations the Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain Drainage District (the “Drainage District”) 
composed of the Public Corporations to be assessed for the Drain, pursuant to Chapter 20 of the 
Michigan Drain Code, Act No. 40 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1956, as amended (the “Drain 
Code”) and issued its Final Order of Determination as executed by the Chairperson of the Drainage 
Board on November 17, 2020 (the “Final Order of Determination”); and 



 

2 

WHEREAS, as provided in the petitions, the issuance of bonds to finance the Project is 
contingent upon the Public Corporations and the Drainage District entering into an agreement as 
provided by law setting forth the services and operations of the Drainage District and to provide 
for methods of addressing and apportioning future improvements to the Drainage District; and 

WHEREAS, Section 471 of the Drain Code authorizes the Drainage Board to contract with 
any public corporation including any agency thereof, including the Public Corporations and the 
County Agency; and 

WHEREAS, the Drainage Board and the Public Corporations acknowledge that the 
underlying purpose of this Agreement, entered into pursuant to the authority provided in Section 
471 of the Drain Code, is to fully satisfy the terms of the petitions  and allow for the issuance of 
bonds to finance the Project; supersede and replace the Act 342 Agreement; provide for the 
operations, maintenance, and administration of the Project and the Drainage District by the 
Drainage Board; acknowledge responsibilities with respect to outstanding debt obligations issued 
to finance EFSDS improvements; and promote communication by and among the Drainage Board 
and the Public Corporations; and 

WHEREAS, it is understood and agreed that the entire cost of the Project and the entire 
cost for the operations, maintenance, and administration of the Drainage District is to be assessed 
against the Public Corporations pursuant to Chapter 20 of the Drain Code. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE PARTIES MUTUALLY AGREE AS FOLLOWS. 

AGREEMENT 

1. Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain Drainage District.  The Parties 
acknowledge the legal establishment of the Drain and the Drainage District pursuant to the Final 
Order of Determination and in accordance with applicable law including, but not limited to 
Chapter 20 of the Drain Code. The Parties acknowledge that the Project is to provide 
improvements necessary or prudent to bring the EFSDS, now the Drainage District, into 
compliance with the ACO.    

2. Town Outlet Capacity.  The Parties acknowledge that each Public Corporation’s 
respective ability to discharge to the Drain is limited to that provided in the Town Outlet Capacities 
attached as Exhibit 1 (Town Outlet Capacities).  The Town Outlet Capacities provided herein 
will not be available until after the full completion of the project described in this Agreement. 
After a Public Corporation reaches its Town Outlet Capacity, that Public Corporation shall have 
the right to contract for any additional needed capacity outside of the Drain, but it shall retain its 
obligation to deliver its Town Outlet Capacity to the Drain. The Drainage District agrees that each 
Public Corporation shall retain the right to deliver wastewater in the amount as set forth for its 
respective Town Outlet Capacity, to the Drain subject to the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement, including any extension thereof, so long as each Public Corporation shall continue to 
pay the amount specified herein for its respective assessment of the cost of the Project, the 
operation, maintenance and improvement, and administration of the Drainage District, and any 
additional facilities of the Drainage District as provided herein.  No Public Corporation shall have 
the right unilaterally to terminate or reduce such payments, but if any such Public Corporation 



 

3 

shall breach such obligation, the Drainage District shall be authorized to terminate or reduce such 
delivery rights or to transfer such delivery rights to other public corporations, whether a party 
hereto or not.  The discharge of wastewater into the Drain from any Public Corporation whether a 
Party or not, shall not exceed the Town Outlet Capacity of such public corporation. Responsibility 
and authority will be vested with the Drainage District to oversee and regulate the discharge of 
wastewater from each Public Corporation and take appropriate actions to protect the rights of the 
Drainage District to promote each Public Corporations to discharge up to but not in excess of its 
respective Town Outlet Capacity. The Drainage District acknowledges that exceedances may 
occur from time to time. If a Public Corporation exceeds their respective Town Outlet Capacity, 
all Public Corporations tributary to that location will meet with the Drainage District to discuss 
the reasons for non-compliance. Public Corporations found by the Drainage District to be in 
exceedance of their respective Town Outlet Capacity can be required by the Drainage District to 
develop and implement a written corrective action plan acceptable to the Drainage District within 
90 days of the Drainage District’s finding or as otherwise agreed. A written corrective action plan 
shall be consistent with the Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain Cohesive Operating Protocol or 
successor protocol, plan, or document. In the event it becomes necessary or prudent to install 
meters to monitor the flow of wastewater into the Drain, the costs for installation and operation of 
such meters shall be borne by all Public Corporations as a general system cost and shall be assessed 
or otherwise be obligated to be paid in accordance with Chapter 20 of the Drain Code.  

3. EFSDS Transfer And Legal Title.  The Parties acknowledge that the EFSDS is 
hereby transferred to and established as the Drain in accordance with law and the ACO notice 
provisions. The Drainage Board shall be responsible for the operations, maintenance, and 
administration of the Drainage District in accordance with Chapter 20 of the Drain Code.  

4. EFSDS Outstanding Debt Obligations.  The Parties acknowledge that there are 
outstanding debt obligations issued by the County for improvements to the EFSDS, attached as 
Exhibit 2 (Index of Outstanding EFSDS Bonds).  The Parties hereby covenant and agree that, 
so long as any such bonds or other debt obligations remain outstanding and unpaid, the provisions 
of this Agreement shall not impair the security for the bonds or other obligations or the prompt 
payment of principal or interest thereon.  The Public Corporations, the Drainage Board, and the 
County Agency further covenant and agree that they will comply with their respective duties and 
obligations under the terms of this Agreement promptly, and will not suffer to be done any act 
which would in any way impair bonds or other debt obligations, the security therefor, or the prompt 
payment of interest thereon. The Parties acknowledge that such outstanding debt obligations will 
continue to be serviced in the manner that they are currently being serviced, and that the County 
Agency shall continue to pay the County of Oakland the amounts necessary to meet all such bond 
payments, debt service, and obligations until and unless otherwise agreed between the Drainage 
District and the County. The Parties further acknowledge that with respect to any debt issued 
pursuant to Act 342, the Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner will continue in the 
capacity as County Agency, as designated and appointed by the County for the EFSDS for carrying 
out the purposes of and exercising the powers and duties vested in any contract entered into by and 
among the County and any of the Public Corporations pursuant to Act 342 (any such contract 
referred to herein as an “Act 342 Contract”).  Any Party that is party to an Act 342 Contract ratifies 
and confirms its obligations under any such Act 342 Contract and agrees to continue to carry out 
its obligations under such Act 342 Contract, including the payment of amounts required to be paid 
by any Public Corporation to the County Agency for the payment of debt service and any County 



 

4 

Agency administrative expenses, as provided in the Act 342 Contract.  To the extent there is any 
inconsistency between an Act 342 Contract and this Agreement, the terms of the Act 342 Contract 
will prevail. 

5. Drainage District Operations.  The Drainage District shall operate in accordance 
with accepted public utility operational procedures. The Drainage District shall not be liable to any 
Public Corporation, or any individual user therein, for any interruption in service. The Public 
Corporations agree to comply with their respective administrative consent orders.  A list of the 
Public Corporation’s Administrative Consent Orders is provided in Exhibit 3 (Public 
Corporation Administrative Consent Orders).   

6. Public Corporation Consent To Location of Drainage District.  The Public 
Corporations, by way of compliance with Section 29, Article VII, Michigan Constitution of 1963, 
consent and agree to the establishment and location of the Drain and of other extension, 
improvement or enlargement thereof, within their corporate boundaries and to the use by the 
Drainage District of their streets, highways, alleys, lands, rights-of-way or other public places for 
the purpose and facilities of the Drain and any improvement, enlargement or extension thereof.  
The Public Corporations further agree that in order to evidence and effectuate the foregoing 
agreement and consent, they will execute and deliver to the Drainage District such grants of 
easement, right-of-way, permit or consent as may be requested by the Drainage District.  Each 
Public Corporation agrees to transmit to the Drainage District wastewater collected within its 
respective boundary or otherwise provided by contract up to its Town Outlet Capacity, at reception 
points designated by the Drainage District, and the Drainage District agrees that the Drainage 
District shall accept and dispose of such wastewater for treatment.  

7. Public Corporation Wastewater.  Each Public Corporation shall be responsible 
at its own expense to properly operate and maintain its respective sewer system to collect and 
deliver wastewater flow to the Drain. The Drainage District shall have no responsibility for the 
Public Corporations’ sewer systems.  The Public Corporations shall be responsible for the 
character of their respective wastewater flows and shall comply with standards, rules, and 
regulations controlling the transportation and discharge of wastewater to the Drain.  Each Public 
Corporation by the adoption of appropriate ordinances or rules or regulations shall enforce all legal 
requirements and Drainage District requirements including those relating to industrial 
pretreatment.  Each Public Corporation shall not deliver wastewater to the Drain in violation of 
applicable standards, rules, and regulations, causes physical damage to the Drain, or contributes to 
an event of noncompliance to the Drainage District’s permit or other regulatory requirements.    

8. Service Area.  The service area of the Drain is depicted in Exhibit 4 (Service Area 
Map) which service area consists of the EFSDS interceptor system as configured as of the date of 
establishment of the Drain and Drainage District by execution of the Final Order of Determination, 
and includes areas served pursuant to existing service agreements of certain Public Corporations 
with other municipalities outside of the Drainage District as listed in Exhibit 5 (Index of Public 
Corporation Agreements to Accept Wastewater From Other Municipalities).  The Parties 
understand that the Drainage District is currently subject to the contract between the EFSDS (and 
as anticipated to be transferred and assigned to the Drainage District) and the Detroit Water And 
Sewerage Department (as has been assigned to the Great Lakes Water Authority).  The Parties also 
understand that the Drainage District is currently negotiating a new contract with the Great Lakes 



 

5 

Water Authority. No Public Corporation that is a party to this contract shall divert flow that is 
presently tributary to the Drain to another sewage treatment plant or facility or construct or permit 
the construction of any new sewage treatment plant or facility within the Drainage District without 
the approval of the Drainage Board.   

9. Assessments of Public Corporations For the Payment Of Project Costs.  The 
Parties acknowledge and approve the Project and the preliminary plans and cost estimates for the 
Project attached as Exhibit 6 (Project Preliminary Plans And Cost Estimates).  The Project is 
limited to those improvements described in the petitions of the Charter Township of West 
Bloomfield dated July 13, 2020 and the City of Southfield dated July 20, 2020 and the Final Order 
of Determination of the Drainage Board dated November 17, 2020. The Public Corporations 
acknowledge and agree to pay the Drainage District for all Project costs, including the acquisition, 
construction, and financing of the Project in accordance with the approved Final Order of 
Apportionment, executed by the Chairperson of the Drainage Board on June 22, 2021, establishing 
the assessment percentages as described in Exhibit 7 (Final Order of Apportionment 
Assessment Percentages). All matters relating to engineering plans and specifications, together 
with the making and letting of final contracts for acquisition and construction of the Project, the 
approval of the work and materials therefor, and construction supervision, shall be under the 
exclusive control of the Drainage Board.  The Drainage Board shall maintain appropriate insurance 
coverage for the Project. The insurance premiums for policies secured by the Drainage Board for 
the Project shall become a Project cost.  In the event the amount of any judgment, arbitration award 
or settlement, including litigation costs, are payable by the Drainage Board, such amount shall be 
a Project cost.  It is specifically recognized by all Public Corporations that the Drainage Board 
may issue bonds on behalf of the Drainage District in anticipation of the collection of assessments 
or other payments required to be made by the Public Corporations under the provisions of Chapter 
20 of the Drain Code and as described in this Agreement, and the Public Corporations covenant 
and agree that they will make all required payments to the Drainage Board promptly and at the 
times specified herein. 

10. Assessments and Charges to Public Corporations For The Payment Of 
Drainage District Operations, Maintenance, and Administration Costs.  The Public 
Corporations shall pay the Drainage Board for the operation, maintenance, and administration of 
the Drain and related wastewater services at such amounts as the Drainage Board may establish 
from time to time based on the aggregate quantity of wastewater on a multi-year rolling average 
method entering the Drain attributable from the Public Corporations or any other method as 
determined by the Drainage Board, based on the benefits that accrue to each Public Corporation 
and the extent to which each Public Corporation contributes to the conditions that make the 
Drainage District necessary. At least annually, representatives of the Drainage Board shall offer to 
meet with the Public Corporations and discuss the method of assessment of operation, 
maintenance, and administration of the Drain. The Parties acknowledge that amounts charged by 
the Drainage Board to each Public Corporation will include all applicable costs and expenses 
associated with financing, administration, operation and maintenance, sewage disposal charges or 
other applicable expenses as determined by the Drainage Board, and will include an allocable share 
of debt service owed on outstanding bonds and other obligations issued by the County for 
improvements to the EFSDS.  In the event that the Drainage District is billed directly by the Great 
Lakes Water Authority for charges associated with high strength and industrial wastewater flows, 
such charges may be invoiced directly to the responsible Public Corporation(s) as determined by 



 

6 

the Drainage Board. Each of the Public Corporations reserves the right to establish the manner in 
which it assesses and charge properties within the Public Corporation benefiting especially from 
the Drain or otherwise provide for the amounts needed to pay for the Drainage District 
assessments, in accordance with the Drain Code and other applicable law.  Operation, 
maintenance, and administrative expenses shall include, but not be limited to, such amounts as in 
the judgment of the Drainage Board to pay for any losses or legal expenses arising from the 
operation, maintenance and improvement, and administration of the Drain and the repair and 
replacement of the Drainage District’s administrative facilities, equipment, accessories, or 
appurtenances as may be reasonably necessary or prudent.  If the character of wastewater 
transmitted from any Public Corporation is in violation of applicable standards, rules, and 
regulations, causes physical damage to the Drain, or contributes to an event of noncompliance to 
the Drainage District’s permit or other regulatory requirements, the Drainage Board may apply an 
additional assessment to the respective Public Corporation and, if necessary or prudent, the 
Drainage Board shall have the right for the protection of the Drainage System and the public health 
or safety, to deny discharge of wastewater to the Drainage District. 

11. Administration, Auditing, Financial Services, and Other Overhead Expenses.  
The Drainage Board is authorized, but not required, to use the Oakland County Water Resources 
Commissioner, the County of Oakland, or third party personnel, equipment, or services for the 
operations, maintenance, or administration of the Drain.  The Public Corporations agree that the 
costs of contract, administration, auditing, financial services, and other overhead expenses are part 
of the Drain costs whether provided by County personnel or third parties.  This includes allocable 
share of reasonable personnel cost, salary, and fringe benefits as determined by the Drainage 
Board.   

12. Billing.  The assessments and charges as herein provided shall be billed on either a 
monthly or quarterly basis by the Drainage Board to the Public Corporations.  It is understood and 
agreed, that the payment of charges for services as provided herein for each Public Corporation 
shall be the general obligation of such Public Corporation, and the Drainage Board shall have the 
right to utilize any method permitted by law for the collection of such charges due to the Drainage 
Board under this contract. 

13. Nonassignment.  A Public Corporation shall not assign any claim, right, or 
privilege it may have under this Agreement or under law from or against the Drainage District to 
any other Public Corporation, person, or entity whatsoever without the prior written approval of 
the Drainage Board. 

14. Drainage District Rules And Regulations.  The Drainage Board may establish 
general rules and regulations for the Drainage District consistent with applicable law, rules, and 
regulations controlling the quantity and quality of the discharge of the users to the Drain.  Nothing 
herein shall prohibit the Drainage Board from establishing rules and regulations more stringent 
than those required by applicable law, rules, and regulations, if, in the judgment of the Drainage 
Board stricter rules and regulations are necessary or prudent to protect the integrity of the Drainage 
District.  Further, each Public Corporation agrees to enforce such rules and regulations as the 
Drainage Board adopts from time to time. 



 

7 

15. No Territorial Change of Public Corporation.  No change in the jurisdiction over 
territory in any Public Corporation shall in any manner impair the obligations of this Agreement, 
supplement or amendment.  In the event all or any part of the territory of a Public Corporation is 
incorporated as a new city or is annexed to or becomes a part of the territory of another Public 
Corporation or another public corporation, the Public Corporation or public corporation into which 
such territory is incorporated or to which such territory is annexed, shall assume the proper 
proportionate share of the contractual obligations and rights in the Drainage District of the Public 
Corporation from which territory is taken and such a Public Corporation shall become a Public 
Corporation in this Agreement, based upon a division determined by the Drainage Board in its sole 
discretion.  

16. Term.  This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect for an initial term of 
thirty (30) years from the Effective Date as provided in Section 26, and shall be automatically 
extended for an addition ten (10) year term beyond the initial term and thereafter automatically 
extended for ten (10) year intervals unless terminated by the Parties as provided herein; provided 
that, in no event shall this Agreement be terminated if any bonds, notes or other debt of the 
Drainage District remain outstanding.  It is understood that this Agreement shall automatically and 
without further action of the Parties, be extended to such date beyond the initial term and any 
extension thereto to coincide with the date on which all of the principal of and interest on any such 
bonds, notes or other debt have been fully paid.  Expiration or termination of this Agreement shall 
not impact in any way the Parties rights, duties and obligations and the Drainage Board’s rights 
and obligations to the continued operation, maintenance and improvement, and administration of 
the Drain under Chapter 20 of the Drain Code. 

17. Termination.  Following the initial term or the full payment of the principal of, 
and interest on, any and all bonds, notes or other debt of the Drainage District, whichever is later, 
this Agreement may be terminated by any Party upon a minimum of 365 calendar days written 
notice to each of the other Parties to this Agreement.  The written notice shall state the effective 
date of the termination.  

18. Governing Law.  This Agreement is made and entered into in the state of Michigan 
and shall be interpreted, enforced, and governed under the laws of the state of Michigan.  The 
language of this Agreement is intended to be construed as a whole according to its fair meaning 
and not construed strictly for or against any Party.   

19. Lawsuits or Claims.  The Parties agree that the costs and expenses of any lawsuits, 
disputes, or claims of any kind arising directly or indirectly out of this Agreement to the extent 
such costs and expenses are chargeable against the Drainage District shall be deemed to constitute 
part of the cost of the Drain and shall be paid by the Public Corporations in the same manner as 
other costs of the Drain.  

20. Third Party Beneficiaries.  There are no intended third party beneficiaries to this 
Agreement. 

21. Government Function.  This Agreement does not, and is not intended to, impair, 
divest, delegate, or contravene any constitutional, statutory, or other legal right, privilege power, 



 

8 

obligation, duty, or immunity of the Parties.  The obligations in this Agreement are in the exercise 
or discharge of a governmental function. 

22. Notices.   Notice of a legal nature shall be sent by certified first class mail, return 
receipt requested or by personal delivery as follows:  

 Drainage District:  
  Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner  
  One Public Works Drive, Building 95-West  
  Waterford, Michigan 48328  
 
 Public Corporation:  
  Authorized representative for such Public Corporation 
 
All Notices shall be considered delivered to a Party on the date of receipt as represented by the 
return receipt or by proof of personal service.  Any Notice given must be signed by an authorized 
representative.  

23. Entire Agreement, Amendment, Counterparts, and Enforceability.  This 
Agreement sets forth the entire understanding of the Parties concerning its subject matter and 
specifically supersedes and replaces the Act 342 Agreement.  The terms and conditions are 
contractual and not mere recital.  This Agreement may be amended by a writing executed by all 
Parties with persons with legal authority to bind the respective Party.  This Agreement may be 
executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be considered an original, but all of which 
shall constitute one and the same instrument.  The recital and whereas provisions of this Agreement 
are considered an integral part of this Agreement.  If any provision of this Agreement is judicially 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement (other than those found 
to be invalid or unenforceable) is not affected and is enforceable, provided that the invalid or 
unenforceable provision does not substantially alter the Agreement or make execution impractical.  

24. Public Purpose.  The Drainage Board and the Public Corporations enter this 
Agreement to serve the public health and welfare of the people of the state of Michigan, especially 
in the Drainage District. 

25. Successor and Assigns.  This Agreement is binding on, and for the benefit of, the 
Parties and their respective their successors and assigns, subject to the provisions of this 
Agreement precluding assignment. 

26. Existing Rights.  Nothing in this Agreement shall impact the existing rights or 
obligations of any Party.  

27. Effective Date.  This Agreement shall become effective as of the date first written 
above.  

 
 

[Signatures on next page] 
  



 

9 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed 
effective as of the date and year first above written.   

 

EVERGREEN-FARMINGTON SANITARY 
DRAIN DRAINAGE DISTRICT  
 
 
By:        
 
Its:        
 
 
COUNTY OF OAKLAND 
 
 
By:_______________________________________ 
Its:  County Agency, pursuant to Act No. 342 of the 
Public Acts of Michigan, 1939, as amended 
 
 
CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 
 
 
By:        
 
Its:        
 
And:        
 
Its:        
 
 
VILLAGE OF BEVERLY HILLS 
 
 
By:        
 
Its:        
 
And:        
 
Its:        

  



 

10 

VILLAGE OF BINGHAM FARMS 
 
 
By:        
 
Its:        
 
And:        
 
Its:        
 
 
CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 
 
 
By:        
 
Its:        
 
And:        
 
Its:        
 
 
TOWNSHIP OF BLOOMFIELD 
 
 
By:        
 
Its:        
 
And:        
 
Its:        
 

 
CITY OF BLOOMFIELD HILLS 
 
 
By:        
 
Its:        
 
And:        
 
Its:        



 

11 

CITY OF FARMINGTON 
 
 
By:        
 
Its:        
 
And:        
 
Its:        
 
 
CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS 
 
 
By:        
 
Its:        
 
And:        
 
Its:        
 
 

      VILLAGE OF FRANKLIN 
 
 
By:        
 
Its:        
 
And:        
 
Its:        
 
 

  



 

12 

CITY OF KEEGO HARBOR 
 
 
By:        
 
Its:        
 
And:        
 
Its:        
 
 
CITY OF LATHRUP VILLAGE 
 
 
By:        
 
Its:        
 
And:        
 
Its:        
 

 
CITY OF ORCHARD LAKE VILLAGE 
 
 
By:        
 
Its:        
 
And:        
 
Its:        
 
 
CITY OF SOUTHFIELD 
 
 
By:        
 
Its:        
 
And:        
 
Its:        



 

13 

CITY OF TROY 
 
 
By:        
 
Its:        
 
And:        
 
Its:        
 

 
      CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF WEST   
      BLOOMFIELD 

 
 
By:        
 
Its:        
 
And:        
 
Its:        

 



 

 

INDEX OF EXHIBITS 

1.  Exhibit 1 (Town Outlet Capacities).  Para 2.  
 
2.  Exhibit 2 (Index of Outstanding EFSDS Bonds).  Para 4.  
 
3.  Exhibit 3 (Public Corporation Administrative Consent Orders).  Para 5  
 
4.  Exhibit 4 (Service Area Map).  Para 8.  
 
5.  Exhibit 5 (Index of Public Corporation Agreements to Accept Wastewater From Other 

Municipalities).  Para 8.  
 
6.  Exhibit 6 (Project Preliminary Plans And Cost Estimates).  Para 9.  
 
7.  Exhibit 7 (Final Order of Apportionment Assessment Percentages).  Para 9.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT 1 
 

TOWN OUTLET CAPACITIES 
 
 



 

 

 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT 2 
 

INDEX OF OUTSTANDING EFSDS BONDS 

 
Name of Bonds 

Original Principal 
Amount 

 
Issue Date 

 
Maturity Dates 

 
    

Evergreen-Farmington 
Sewage Disposal System 

8 Mile Road Pumping 
Station Bonds, Series 

2012 
 

$2,415,000 4/10/2012 10/1/2013-2032 

Evergreen and 
Farmington Sewage 
Disposal Systems 

Middlebelt Transport and 
Storage Tunnel Bonds, 

Series 2014 
 

$36,855,000 9/17/2014 10/1/2017-2036 

Evergreen and 
Farmington Sewage 

Disposal Systems North 
Evergreen Interceptor 
Bonds, Series 2015 

 

$3,700,000 10/13/2015 10/1/2016-2027, 
2029, 2031, 2033, 

2035 

Evergreen and 
Farmington Sewage 

Disposal Systems North 
Evergreen Interceptor 
Bonds, Series 2017 

 

$4,805,000 5/31/2017 3/1/2018-2037 

Evergreen and 
Farmington Sewage 
Disposal Systems 

Middlebelt Transport and 
Storage Tunnel Bonds. 

Series 2017 
 

$995,000 9/28/2017 Mandatory 
redemption 

9/1/2018-2027 

Evergreen-Farmington 
Sewage Disposal System 
Refunding Bonds. Series 

2018 
 

$3,065,000 2/28/2018 4/1/2019-2031 



 

2 

 
Name of Bonds 

Original Principal 
Amount 

 
Issue Date 

 
Maturity Dates 

 
Evergreen and 

Farmington Sewage 
Disposal System Capital 

Improvement Bonds. 
Series 2018A 

 

$8,300,000 9/20/2018 4/1/2019-2033 

Evergreen and 
Farmington Sewage 

Disposal System Capital 
Improvement Bonds. 

Series 2020A 

$3,910,000 3/26/2020 7/1/21-2029 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT 3 
 

PUBLIC CORPORATION ADMINISTRATIVE CONSENT ORDERS 

 
 
 
 
Community     ACO # 
 
Beverly Hills   AFO-SW-09-002 
Bloomfield Hills  AFO-SW-09-004 
Bloomfield Township  AFO-SW-09-003 
Farmington   ACO-SW-05-005 
Farmington Hills  ACO-SW-05-006 
Lathrup Village  AFO-SW-09-007 
Troy    AFO-SW-09-006 
West Bloomfield Township AFO-SW-09-005 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 



 

 

EXHIBIT 4 
 

SERVICE AREA MAP 



 

 

 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT 5 
 

INDEX OF PUBLIC CORPORATION AGREEMENTS TO ACCEPT  
WASTEWATER FROM OTHER MUNICIPALITIES 

 
 
1.  That certain Letter Agreement between the Township of West Bloomfield and the City of 
Sylvan Lake dated circa December 24, 1963 and countersigned on January 8, 1964 respecting the 
Sylvan Manor Arm. 



 

 

EXHIBIT 6 
 

PROJECT PRELIMINARY PLANS AND COST ESTIMATES 

Overall Project Preliminary Plans and Cost Estimates  
Total Estimated Project Cost:  $72,700,000 
 
The Total Estimated Project Cost is $72,700,000.00.  This includes the 4 component projects 
described below including the following:  (1) Great lakes Water Authority (“GLWA”) Capacity 
Purchase Project; (2) 8 Mile Road Outlet Conveyance Project; (3) Evergreen Road Conveyance, 
Walnut Lake Pump Station #1 Project; and (4) Lathrup Village Sanitary Retention Tank 
Improvements.  The preliminary plans including the basis of design and other projects documents 
are on file with the Water Resources Commissioner’s office and have been the subject of monthly 
meetings of the Corrective Action Plan Steering Committee of the EFSD since 2019 and presented 
and discussed at the public meetings of the EFSD.   
 
Project Name:  GLWA Capacity Purchase 
Owner:  Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain 
Location:  Various 
Engineer of Record: Applied Science, Inc., 
Estimated Purchase Capacity: $33,000,000 
Total Estimated Project Cost:  $34,130,000 
Tentative Purchase Date:  December 2021-January 2022 
 
The existing contractual outlet capacity pursuant to the August 29, 1984 Detroit-Oakland 
Agreement for the Use of Certain Detroit Sewers for the Evergreen – Farmington District is a 
maximum rate of discharge of 170 cubic feet per second (cfs).  The contractual agreement includes 
provision for increasing the maximum rate of discharge as may be agreed to by the parties.  A 
proposed increase in the EFSD maximum rate of discharge of 57 cfs, for a revised total contractual 
capacity of 227 cfs is tentatively agreed to among parties. In order to accept this additional flow, 
GLWA must remove offsetting flow from the system.  Two projects are requested for GLWA to 
meet these EGLE requirements, the DWSD West Warren Sewer Separation Project and the GLWA 
West Warren Outfall project.  The purchase capacity cost is guided by but not tied directly to the 
anticipated project costs from these two projects.  The engineer for the GLWA Purchase Capacity 
is Applied Science, Inc.  The anticipated negotiated purchase capacity is $33,000,000.  The cost 
for the corrective action plan and coordination with EGLE, GLWA and DWSD is anticipated to 
be $1,250,000.  Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain anticipates purchasing the capacity in the 
last part of 2021 or early 2022.   
  
Project Name:  8 Mile Road Outlet Conveyance 
Owner:  Evergreen Farmington Sanitary Drain 
Location: 8 Mile Pump Station and along 8 Mile Road in Southfield, Michigan 
Engineer of Record:  Fishbeck 
Engineer’s Estimate of Construction Cost:  $18,610,000 
Total Estimated Project Cost:  $32,060,000 
Tentative Bid Date:  Spring of 2022 
 



 

2 

The project to allow more flow to be conveyed involves modifications to the 8 Mile Pump Station 
and existing discharge piping by slip lining approximately 3,800 feet of the downstream 60-inch 
I.D. South Evergreen Interceptor to a 54-inch diameter sewer.  In addition, modifications will be 
made to the pump station pumping capacity to help control the water levels upstream of the 8 Mile 
Pump Station.  A new tributary collector sewer will be constructed to capture and convey flows 
from areas disconnected from the newly lined section of the South Evergreen Interceptor. In 
addition, the 8 Mile Drain at the Evergreen Emergency SSO Chamber will be modified.     
 
Project Name:  Lathrup Village Sanitary Retention Tank Improvements 
Owner:  Lathrup Village 
Location:  19600 Sunnybrook Avenue, Lathrup Village, Michigan 
Engineer of Record:  Hubbell, Roth & Clark, Inc. 
Engineer’s Estimate of Construction Cost:  $520,000 
Total Estimated Project Cost:  $1,030,000 
Tentative Bid Date:  Spring of 2022 
 
The project involves improvements and modifications to the Lathrup Sanitary Retention Basin.  
The major work items include electrical and mechanical improvements to the SRT heating, 
influent pumping and dewatering systems; structural restoration to the roof and walls; upgraded 
instrumentation and controls; SCADA improvements; piping and valve system changes; and 
revised operational controls.  The improvements will allow Lathrup Village to discharge its town 
outlet capacity during wet weather when the Evergreen Interceptor levels are elevated. A cost 
sharing agreement for the design and construction will be utilized on this project between Lathrup 
Village and the Evergreen Farmington Sanitary Drain.  
 
  
Project Name:  Evergreen Road Conveyance Project – Walnut Lake Pump Station #1 Corrective 
Action Plan  
Owner:  Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain 
Location:  Evergreen Road 8 Mile to 14 Mile 
Engineer of Record:  Applied Science, Inc. 
Engineer’s Estimate of Construction Cost:  $2,900,000 
Total Estimated Project Cost:  $5,480,000 
Tentative Bid Date:  January-February 2022 
 
The project will increase Evergreen Interceptor operating levels and coordinated operations of 
facilities in the EFSDS and customer communities to avoid SSOs through certain modifications to 
Walnut Lake Pump Station #1 for continued operations during wet weather. This may include 
grade separation stations, sealed manholes, and other system improvements. 
 



 

 

Below is a chart of the estimated cost for the respective Public Corporation.  
 

 
 
 

Public Corporation 

 
 
 

Peak Share 

   
 

Total 
Estimated Cost 

Auburn Hills 0.460%   334,420 
Bingham Farms 0.690%   501,630 
Bloomfield Hills 1.440%   1,046,880 
Beverly Hills 5.750%   4,180,250 
Birmingham 0.110%   79,970 
Bloomfield Twp 9.540%   6,935,580 
Farmington 0.340%   247,180 
Farmington Hills 28.290%   20,566,830 
Franklin 0.210%   152,670 
Keego Harbor 0.320%   232,640 
Lathrup Village 3.060%   2,224,620 
Orchard Lake Village 0.370%   268,990 
Southfield 38.170%   27,749,590 
Troy 3.150%   2,290,050 
West Bloomfield Twp 8.100%   5,888,700 

Total 100.000%   72,700,000 
 
 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT 7 
 

FINAL ORDER OF APPORTIONMENT ASSESSMENT PERCENTAGES 

 City of Auburn Hills        0.46% 
 Village of Beverly Hills       5.75% 
 Village of Bingham Farms        0.69% 
 City of Birmingham        0.11% 
 Charter Township of Bloomfield        9.54% 
 City of Bloomfield Hills       1.44% 
 City of Farmington        0.34% 
 City of Farmington Hills     28.29% 
 Village of Franklin        0.21% 
 City of Keego Harbor        0.32% 
 City of Lathrup Village       3.06% 
 City of Orchard Lake Village       0.37% 
 City of Southfield      38.17% 
 City of Troy         3.15% 
 Charter Township of West Bloomfield     8.10% 
 
                      100% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4813-2900-0635 v14 [9007-435] 



 

Delhi Township 
2101 Aurelius Rd. 
Suite 2A 
Holt, MI 48842 
517-694-7760 

Detroit 
535 Griswold St. 
Buhl Building, Ste 1650 
Detroit, MI 48226 
313-965-3330 

Grand Rapids 
1925 Breton Road SE  
Suite 100 
Grand Rapids, MI 49506 
616-454-4286 

Howell 
105 W. Grand River 
Howell, MI 48843 
517-552-9199 

Jackson 
401 S. Mechanic St. 
Suite B 
Jackson, MI 49201 
517-292-1295 

Kalamazoo 
834 King Highway 
Suite 107 
Kalamazoo, MI 49001 
269-665-2005 

Lansing 
215 S. Washington SQ 
Suite D 
Lansing, MI 48933 
517-292-1488 

Y:\202107\20210744\06_Corrs\Proposal\20210806_Proposal_2021DrainageStudies.docx 

MAILING: PO Box 824 
Bloomfield Hills, MI  48303-0824 
 
SHIPPING: 555 Hulet Drive 
Bloomfield Hills, MI  48302-0360 
 
PHONE: 248-454-6300 
WEBSITE:  hrcengr.com 

August 06. 2021 

 

Village of Franklin 

32325 Franklin Road 

Franklin, Michigan 48025 

 

Attention: Village President and Council Trustees  

 Roger Fraser, Village Administrator 

 

Re: Proposal for Professional Study/Design Engineering Services HRC Job No. 20210744.86 

 2021 Village Drainage Studies (Flooding Investigations) 

 

Dear Ladies and Gentlemen: 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to allow Hubbell, Roth & Clark, Inc. (HRC) to submit this proposal for 

professional study and design engineering services.  The Village recently experienced significant occurrences 

of flooding as the majority of southeastern Michigan has over the past several months.  We understand that 

there are four (4) locations that experienced significant flooding that the Village would like to have investigated.  

This proposal contains scope of services and associated costs for implementation of drainage studies for these 

locations. 

 

Background: 

 

Southeastern Michigan, including the Village of Franklin, has experienced some of the highest intensity rainfall 

events on record thus far in the summer of 2021.  More importantly, these significant rain events have caused 

regional basement and street flooding, river and stream overflows, and consequently, building and utility 

infrastructure damage.  Earlier in the summer, several sections of Franklin Road as well as some sections of 

other residential streets in the Village were impassable due to flooded roadways.  Most recently, on July 24, 

2021, the Village had four (4) areas that experienced significant flooding: 

 

1) Franklin Road at Carol,  

2) Franklin Road at Vincennes,  

3) Franklin Road, between Evelyn Court and Vincennes, and 

4) Greenbriar (at the east end of the road). 

 

Review of the rain gauge data at a nearby station on Inkster Road in West Bloomfield indicated that for the 

recent July 24th rain event, approximately 1.13” of rain fell in an approximate 10 min period (which equates to 

a 65-year storm event, or a 1.5% chance of occurring in any given year) and 2.24” of rain fell in an approximate 

30 min period (which equates to a 179-year storm event, or a 0.56% chance of occurring in any given year).  

Primarily due to the flooding occurrences this summer, the Village has expressed concerns with the existing 

drainage in these areas and have requested HRC to evaluate the storm sewer pipes and ditches, their limitations 

and/or deficiencies, the topography, and to offer recommendations for resolution of the drainage issues. 

 

Scope of Study/Design Engineering Services and Fees: 

 

Based on the above expectations for the four (4) drainage studies, the estimated timeline and fees for our 

services is as follows: 



 

 

 

 

Y:\202107\20210744\06_Corrs\Proposal\20210806_Proposal_2021DrainageStudies.docx 

Village Council/Mr. Roger Fraser 
August 6, 2021 

HRC Job Number 20210744 
Page 2 of 2 

 

 

1. Visit each location, observe and document site conditions:  HRC would complete this task within two 

(2) days at a cost not to exceed $1,500. 

 

2. Obtain minimal topography at each location:  HRC would complete this task within one (1) week at a 

cost not to exceed $2,000.  This work may be done in conjunction with the site visits as schedule allows. 

 

3. Provide Recommendations for Remediation/Improvements and Estimated Costs:  HRC would 

complete this task within four (4) weeks of the completed site visit and survey work at a cost not to 

exceed $5,500.  Work would include deliverables in the form of minimal drawings with obtained survey 

grades and proposed improvements if drawings are necessary and/or letters with description of the 

proposed improvements and the estimated costs for the improvements. 

 

Summary: 

 

In summary, the overall budget to investigate and provide recommendations for improvements along with the 

associated engineering fees can be accomplished at a cost not to exceed $9,000.  This does not include 

preparation of a bid package, bidding assistance, or construction engineering costs.  HRC will provide a cost 

estimate for these costs as requested. 

 

At this time, we are requesting your authorization to proceed in this manner.  We are available to discuss this 

matter in more detail should you so desire.  If you have any questions or require any additional information, 

please feel free to contact our office at 248-454-6300. 

 

Very truly yours, Accepted By: 

 

HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC. Village of Franklin 

  

 

 

James F. Burton, P.E. Signature:  ________________________  

Vice President  

  

 Written Name:  ____________________  

 

Edward Zmich  

Project Manager Title:  _____________________________  

 

EDZ/edz 

 Dated:  ____________________________     

pc: Village of Franklin; Heather Mydloski  

HRC; Business Office, File 



 

Delhi Township 
2101 Aurelius Rd. 
Suite 2A 
Holt, MI 48842 
517-694-7760 

Detroit 
535 Griswold St. 
Buhl Building, Ste 1650 
Detroit, MI 48226 
313-965-3330 

Grand Rapids 
1925 Breton Road SE  
Suite 100 
Grand Rapids, MI 49506 
616-454-4286 

Howell 
105 W. Grand River 
Howell, MI 48843 
517-552-9199 

Jackson 
401 S. Mechanic St. 
Suite B 
Jackson, MI 49201 
517-292-1295 

Kalamazoo 
834 King Highway 
Suite 107 
Kalamazoo, MI 49001 
269-665-2005 

Lansing 
215 S. Washington SQ 
Suite D 
Lansing, MI 48933 
517-292-1488 

Y:\202107\20210745\06_Corrs\Proposal\20210806_Proposal_StWMaintProgram.docx 

MAILING: PO Box 824 
Bloomfield Hills, MI  48303-0824 
 
SHIPPING: 555 Hulet Drive 
Bloomfield Hills, MI  48302-0360 
 
PHONE: 248-454-6300 
WEBSITE:  hrcengr.com 

August 06, 2021 

 

Village of Franklin 

32325 Franklin Road 

Franklin, Michigan 48025 

 

Attention: Village President and Council Trustees  

 Roger Fraser, Village Administrator 

 

Re: Proposal for Professional Design Engineering Services HRC Job No. 20210745.86 

 Storm Sewer Maintenance Services Contract (RFP) 

 

Dear Ladies and Gentlemen: 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to allow Hubbell, Roth & Clark, Inc. (HRC) to submit this proposal for 

professional design engineering services.  We understand that the Village wishes to embark on an annual Storm 

Sewer Maintenance Program as it pertains to the Village’s storm water assets (i.e., sewer pipes, drainage 

structures, outfalls, etc.).  In accordance with recent discussions between HRC and the Village, as Consulting 

Engineers for the Village, HRC has prepared the proposal as per the following guidelines: 

 

1) Develop a Request for Proposal (RFP) for a Storm Sewer Maintenance Services Contract and solicit 

bids from prospective contracting firms, complete with maps, details and technical specifications, to 

perform annual Village-wide storm sewer maintenance services, including sewer televising, cleaning, 

and grouting, lining, and/or replacement, as required, for a program duration of three (3) years with 

optional one (1) year extensions, and 

 

2) The first year’s work – 2021 – would entail the preparation of maps, details and specifications for a 

proposed Storm Sewer Maintenance Program within the downtown area which would include sewer 

televising, cleaning, and grouting, lining, and/or replacement, as required, for all assets within the 

Franklin Road storm sewer system (between 14 Mile and Scenic Hwy), the Carol Street drain (from 

Carol Street dead end in the FCA field to the Franklin Branch of the River Rouge outfall east of 

Bowden). 

 

Background: 

 

In accordance with the Village President’s email request in April 2021, HRC provided a map of the Village’s 

storm structures, outfalls and pipe for the entire Village as well as a zoomed in map of downtown Franklin Road 

and the surrounding area.   (See maps attached).  Mr. Lamott had communicated with the State Representative 

Kyra Bolden’s staff about potential funding to inspect, clean and repair Village-owned storm sewers that were 

not rehabilitated as part of the recent Franklin Road Streetscape project.  That project’s consultants, Nowak & 

Fraus, Inc. sent HRC their plans from the streetscape project early this year; however, the plans were not clear 

as far as which of the structures and pipe were rehabilitated and/or cleaned as part of their project.  We do know 

that additional storm structures were added along the downtown area to accommodate the new 

streetscape.  Nowak & Fraus, Inc. stated they would give us a breakdown later when the record drawings are 

complete. 

 



 

 

 

 

Y:\202107\20210745\06_Corrs\Proposal\20210806_Proposal_StWMaintProgram.docx 

Village Council/Mr. Roger Fraser 
August 6, 2021 

HRC Job Number 20210745 
Page 2 of 5 

 

Further, as similarly stated in our proposal for the implementation of drainage studies for four (4) areas that 

experienced significant flooding during the June and July rain events, the Village has great concerns with the 

flooding occurrences that have occurred this summer, in particular, along Franklin Road, where several sections 

were impassable during to the recent flooding occurrence. 

 

Development of Contractor RFP’s: 

 

Based on the aforementioned, we are of the understanding that the Village would like to have a bid package 

prepared to investigate, evaluate and clean the storm sewer pipes and outfalls and to administer an improvement 

project for rehabilitation of the storm water assets, as required.   

 

From our GIS records, the total number of known manholes and catch basins in the Village are 94 and 34, 

respectively, with 30 and 13 of them, respectively, being in the vicinity of downtown Franklin and the Carol 

Street Drain.  Further, the total length of known storm sewer pipes in the Village is approximately 10,800 lft. 

with 3,300 lft. being in the vicinity of downtown Franklin and the Carol Street Drain.  Finally, there are 86 total 

outfalls in the Village, with only 1 in the downtown area (at the end of the Carol Street Drain); however, a cost 

to inspect these will not be included herein as these inspections are done as part of the MS4 Program. 

 

With this, HRC will prepare the sewer inspection (televising, cleaning) and rehabilitation (grouting, lining, 

replacement) contract provisions, the associated bid specifications, GIS maps, insurance and bond requirements, 

and bid the Village-wide project.  The Sewer Maintenance Services Contract will be set up with the following 

expectations: 

 

1. The Village, with HRC’s assistance, will take bids and award a three (3) year Contract to a sewer 

maintenance contractor so the work could commence in Fall, 2021, if required. 

 

2. The new 3-year Contract would be bid and awarded with the flexibility and understanding of the 

contractor that the Contract may be extended an additional one (1) to two (2) year period. 

 

3. The first year’s work – 2021 – would include work for all storm water assets within the downtown area, 

which includes the Franklin Road storm sewer system (between 14 Mile and Scenic Hwy) and the Carol 

Street drain (from Carol Street dead end in the FCA field to the Franklin Branch of the River Rouge 

outfall east of Bowden). 

 

4. The Village will need to establish a budget that will be allocated each year, including contingency and 

engineering costs.  A list of sewers to be investigated and structures to be rehabilitated (based on HRC 

inspection of them) would be compiled each January (or at another time as per the Village 

Administrator) and given to the contractor to match the budget for that fiscal year. 

 

5. HRC will perform inspection of the storm manholes and catch basins using Manhole Assessment 

Certification Program (MACP) ratings.  The selected contractor would be responsible for rehabilitation 

of storm structures, as per HRC’s direction. 

 

6. The contractor will be expected to provide a log and video (on flash drive, external hard drive, or cloud-

based delivery) of all sewers before and after any type of rehabilitation upon project completion and 

before final payment is made. 

 

7. The Village and HRC will require the contractor to provide unit prices for pipe sizes ranging from 12” 

to 36” in diameter with the understanding that the majority of the sewers are 12”, 15” and 36” (Carol 

Street Drain) for each year of the proposed Program. 



 

 

 

 

Y:\202107\20210745\06_Corrs\Proposal\20210806_Proposal_StWMaintProgram.docx 

Village Council/Mr. Roger Fraser 
August 6, 2021 

HRC Job Number 20210745 
Page 3 of 5 

 

 

 

Scope of Design Engineering Services and Fees: 

 

Based on the above expectations for the Sewer Maintenance Services Contract, we offer the proposed contractor 

RFP preparation costs and timeline as indicated below.  As part of the process, we would also develop a 

contractor prequalification specification, evaluate all submittals, and provide written recommendations on 

contractor selection.  The tasks, time frames, and estimates of cost to develop the contractor RFPs are as follows: 

 

1. Prepare the Request for Proposals and Prequalification Requirements, Statement of Qualifications, 

Sewer Lining Contract Provisions, Bid Specifications, Maps (GIS), Insurance and Bond Requirements:  

HRC would complete this task utilizing our standard specifications format and requirements as a basis 

within two (2) months at a cost not to exceed $8,500.  Included under this task is the following: 

 

a. Notify/coordinate this project with Utility Agencies to assist in avoiding future conflicts. 

b. Access asset inventory/database and record drawings in GIS system and identify the sewer 

sections to be included in the program. 

c. Prepare preliminary Construction Documents and Cost Estimates and provide them to the 

Village for review. 

d. Conduct Design Coordination Meetings at the beginning of the project and at 50% Construction 

Document Completion Stages, if required. 

e. Assist Village staff with the planned public engagement effort, including flyer creation and 

distribution. 

f. Prepare permit applications for EGLE Wetland/JPA, Oakland County Soil Erosion Control, 

and RCOC ROW permits (as required). 

g. HRC will prepare and provide the bid package (final maps, details, specifications, Engineer’s 

estimate, and other bid documents, as required) and assist with advertising for bidding. 

 

2. Evaluate the Proposals and Qualifications of the Applicants:  HRC and the Village’s Administrator will 

assist in the bidding process, review the submittals, check references, and make recommendation for 

award to the Village Council.  HRC would complete this task within two (2) to three (3) weeks of the 

submittals at a cost not to exceed $3,200.  Should pre-award interviews or facility visits be necessary, 

this cost would be additional. 

 

3. Village Council Meetings and Preparation of Contract Documents:  After HRC and the Village’s 

Administrator have evaluated all Applicants and made their recommendation, HRC will assist the 

Village in documenting the process.  In addition, HRC would attend the Village Council Meeting for 

the award and prepare the Contract Documents.  This task would be done at a cost not to exceed $1,500 

and be completed within one (1) to two (2) weeks of the Council meeting discussed above. 

 

In addition to the above services for preparation of the RFPs, HRC will provide the following detailed tasks 

during the design and project planning stages. 

 

1. HRC’s GIS Department will assign a unique identification number to each structure and pipe drawn in 

the GIS which will serve as the link to the remaining attributes and any future inspection data collected 

by the Village.  It is important that all pipes and structures be assigned an ID prior to any inspection or 

CCTV work being completed.  This task would be included in the cost for preparation of the RFP’s, as 

described above. 

 

2. HRC will perform storm manhole and catch basin inspections of the storm sewer system for the entire 



 

 

 

 

Y:\202107\20210745\06_Corrs\Proposal\20210806_Proposal_StWMaintProgram.docx 

Village Council/Mr. Roger Fraser 
August 6, 2021 

HRC Job Number 20210745 
Page 4 of 5 

 

Village using Manhole Assessment Certification Program (MACP) ratings.  The selected contractor 

will be responsible for rehabilitation of storm structures, as per HRC’s recommendations.  As far as the 

estimated cost for this task, as mentioned earlier, until we receive more detail from Nowak & Fraus, 

our office’s estimated cost would be approximately $11,500 for inspection of the approximate 130 

known structures.  

 

Design Engineering Fees: 

 

Based on the services described herein, we estimate the total design engineering fees to be as follows: 

 

Task 1 – Prepare the Request for Proposals (RFP) Bid Package $     8,500 

Task 2 – Evaluate the Proposals and Qualifications of the Applicants $     3,200 

Task 3 – Village Council Meetings and Preparation of Contract Documents $     1,500 

Task 4 – Storm Manhole and Catch Basin Inspection $   11,500 

Total Not-to-Exceed Fee $   24,700 

 

Estimated Construction Costs: 

 

Estimated construction costs to clean, inspect, televise, and rehabilitate the storm system for the entire Village, 

including the downtown area and Carol Street Drain, would be as follows.  Note that a 10% contingency is 

included in the costs below. 

 

Village-Wide Summary (includes Downtown/Carol Drain): 

 

Cleaning of Village-owned Storm Manholes and Catch Basins $     93,060 

Televising and Cleaning of Village-owned Storm Sewer Pipes $   102,578 

Total Estimated Construction Cost – Village-Wide Cleaning $   195,638 

 

Downtown Area/Carol Street Drain Summary: 

 

Cleaning of Village-owned Storm Manholes and Catch Basins $     36,850 

Televising and Cleaning of Village-owned Storm Sewer Pipes $     58,388 

Total Estimated Construction Cost – Downtown/Carol Drain Cleaning $     95,238 

 

Further, the estimated construction cost would be approximately $250,000 to $300,000 (assuming 

approximately half of the pipes need lining or replacement) for rehabilitation of the structures (grouting, 

pointing) and pipes (lining or replacement).  These costs will be refined once the structure and pipe inspections 

are complete. 

 

Clarifications: 

 

1. Construction Engineering services are not included in this proposal and will be outlined after the bid 

opening.  HRC will provide an additional proposal to include construction engineering, construction 

administration, materials testing (if needed), progress meetings, record drawing preparation, and full-

time construction observation. 

 

2. Grading easement acquisition services are not included in this proposal but can be provided on a time 

and material basis if needed. 

 

 



 

 

 

 

Y:\202107\20210745\06_Corrs\Proposal\20210806_Proposal_StWMaintProgram.docx 

Village Council/Mr. Roger Fraser 
August 6, 2021 

HRC Job Number 20210745 
Page 5 of 5 

 

 

Summary: 

 

In summary, we estimate the overall design engineering budget to develop the Request for Proposal (RFP) for 

a Storm Sewer Maintenance Services Contract, with the first year’s work being the storm system in the 

downtown area and Carol Street Drain, to be a cost not to exceed $24,700.  This does not include construction 

engineering costs which HRC will provide after bidding upon the Village’s request.  This also does not include 

an evaluation of current sewer conditions or establishing priority lists for the actual work to be performed.  HRC 

may also will provide a cost estimate for that as requested. 

 

We believe this is the most cost-effective way to proceed with annual sewer maintenance work.  At this time, 

we are requesting your authorization to proceed in this manner.  We anticipate that the preparation of the Sewer 

Maintenance Services Contractor RFP’s and all the associated documents mentioned herein as well as the bid 

and recommendation for award of a contractor can be completed prior to the end of summer, 2021 so that the 

sewer investigations could begin in Fall, 2021, if necessary.  We are available to discuss this matter in more 

detail should you so desire.   

 

Very truly yours, Accepted By: 

 

HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC. Village of Franklin 

  

 

 

James F. Burton, P.E. Signature:  ________________________  

Vice President  

  

 Written Name:  ____________________  

 

Edward Zmich  

Project Manager Title:  _____________________________  

 

EDZ/edz 

 Dated:  ____________________________     

pc: Village of Franklin; Heather Mydloski  

 HRC; Business Office, File 







 

Memo 

To: Bill Lamott, Village President and Village Council 

From: Heather Mydloski, Village Clerk  

Date: 08-04-2021 

Re:      ZBA Alternate Appointment  

Hello Trustees,  

 

The Zoning/Sign Board of Appeals Chairman, Randy Brakeman came into my office 

and requested that the Council consider the appointment of two (2) Alternates per the 

provision for such in the Village Charter. He reiterated that not having a full Board 

could have a negative impact on the owner/appellant. He explained that if a Board 

member is absent or needs to recuse themselves for a conflict of interest, an alternate 

may become necessary to maintain the minimum quorum prerequisite of five (5) 

Board members. He cautioned that a full Board was advantageous as when a case is 

denied, the appellant cannot bring the same case before the ZBA.  

So, you are aware, we have added a tab to the Newsletter that has a link to a Board 

Application on our website, giving full accessibility for all to apply to any Board. I 

have included supporting documentation for you: One (1) Application, Mark 

Ziessow’s Appointment documentation, The Village Ordinance, and two (2) 

Excerpt’s from Michigan Zoning Enabling Act 110 of 2006. 

 

 

 

 

 

Village of Franklin 
32325 Franklin Road 

Franklin, Michigan   48025 

Phone: (248) 626-9666 

FAX:    (248) 626-0538 



                                                                                                                         Aug 4, 2021 

To Franklin Village Council  

 

This is a letter of recommendation for Nick Bevins to be appointed as an alternate to the ZBA. 

He did serve as a regular member of the ZBA earlier this year for several meetings. He was filling out the 

balance of a term. He did an excellent in our virtual meetings.  The virtual forum itself was very difficult, 

because the actual meeting flow better.  

Yet as a new member he was very well prepared, and articulate. He has demonstrated a knowledge and 

understanding of how our ordinances apply to the cases that are presented to us.  

He is an independent thinker who has offered logical points of view and often asks pointed questions. 

This promotes discussion, and alternative points of view, which is healthy for the board.   

I considered him a valuable member of the board. I would like to have him available as an alternate.  

His prior experience would be invaluable. 

I strongly support his nomination as an alternate.  

 

Sincerely,  

 

Randy Brakeman 

Chairman ZBA 

27390 Wellington 

248-882-0100 

 

 

  



Letter of Recommendation for Nicholas Bevins to be an alternate on the Zoning Board 
 
Dear Village Council, 
 
I would like to recommend Nick Bevins to serve as an alternate to the Zoning Board.  During the 
last year Nick has participated in multiple Planning Commission meetings as a villager in the 
public comment sections.  Each time he participated he showed a commitment to the issue at 
hand and was respectful to all parties involved.  After getting to know Nick better, I learned that 
even though he was finishing a short term on the Zoning Board, he spent personal time and 
effort to g  et certified by the Michigan Board of Planning’s zoning appeals board course.  You 
would be hard pressed to find someone as dedicated to not only show up to meetings, but also 
spend time outside the meetings to make sure they are trained well enough to do the job.  This 
position, though important, is run by volunteers.  Having spent decades running and 
participating in volunteer organizations, Church, Scouting BSA, etc., the volunteers that take the 
effort to be trained tend to be the most dedicated and pillars of support to the rest of the 
committee members.  Please consider strongly in choosing Nick for this role. 
 
Best Regards, 
Stuart 
 
Stuart N. Wooters PhD 
Planning Commissioner 
Village of Franklin  



Zoning Board of Appeals Alternate Application 
Submitted as part of the September 2021 Village Council Meeting 
 
Nicholas Bevins 
25838 Hersheyvale Drive 
Franklin, MI 48025 
 
 
Village Council Members, 
 
I submit this application for your consideration for an alternate member to the Franklin Zoning Board of 
Appeals. I served on the ZBA for several months earlier this year and believe I was an effective, fair, and 
involved member during my tenure. While I was not selected to continue in that seat on the board, I 
continue to remain interested in serving in whatever capacity is available. I find the work on the ZBA of 
particular interest to me and feel that it is a good opportunity for me to give back to the Village in a way 
that suits my experience and skills. To that end, I completed the recent Zoning Board of Appeals training 
put on by the Michigan Association of Planning on June 30. I hope that my initial experiences and 
training from both this session and my short stay on the ZBA earlier this year make me a good candidate 
for this alternate position. I also hope that you’ll consider reviewing previous ZBA minutes from the 
meetings I attended to see that I was actively involved in finding creative ways to balance the interests 
of fellow community members with the overall goals of the Village outlined in the ordinances.  
 
Please reach out to me using the contact information on the following page if you need further 
clarification or information on my application. Thank you very much for your consideration. 
 
Best, 
 
 
 
Nick Bevins 

 
 
 
 
 

  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Zoning Board of Appeals 

Board/Commission of Interest 
 
Name Nicholas Bevins   
 
Address  25838 Hersheyvale Drive, Franklin, MI   
 
Home Phone 814-777-4083 Cell Same   
 
Email nickbevins@gmail.com 
 
Length of Residence 7 years   Occupation Medical Physicist  
 
Reason for Interest: I served on the ZBA previously from Mar-Jun 2021 when I was appointed to fill a 
vacated seat. In that time, I participated in several ZBA calls and found that my involvement on board 
was a very rewarding way to give back to the Village. In addition to working with my fellow ZBA 
members, I enjoyed the interactions with the applicants of the cases, the opportunity to explore parts of 
the Village I hadn’t yet seen, and to become more familiar with the ordinances of the Village. While I 
was not selected to remain in that seat, I am still interested in being part of the board and volunteering 
my time and abilities to help keep the Village the wonderful place we all call home. I feel that my 
background in regulatory work and committee experience makes me a strong candidate for this 
position. 
 
Related Employment: Medical Physicist, Henry Ford Health, July 2014-present. This position has 
extensive involvement in regulatory compliance across a wide variety of agencies and governing bodies. 
Many parts of the job involve the interpretation and implementation of rules in much the same way the 
ZBA operates. I am often challenged with finding creative ways to remain within the spirit of the law or 
regulation, while remaining practical to a given set of constraints.  
 
Education: Ph.D., Medical Physics, University of Wisconsin-Madison, 2012; M.S., Medical Physics, UW-
Madison, 2009; B.S., Physics, Pennsylvania State University, 2007 
 
Past Experience or Other Relevant Information: I was a full ZBA member in the beginning of 2021. As 
part of my previous ZBA involvement, I attended the Michigan Association of Planning Zoning Board of 
Appeals Training on June 30, 2021. I am also an active committee member and chairperson across a 
number of local, national, and international committees which aim to create standards and regulations 
across a variety of healthcare areas. My full CV is attached for the list of committees, and I’m happy to 
provide further information for any questions as part of my application. 
 

 

mailto:nickbevins@gmail.com


To the best of your knowledge, do you or a member of your immediate family have any direct financial 
or business relationships with any supplier, service provider or contractor of the Village of Franklin from 
which you or they derive direct compensation or financial benefit? If yes, please explain:  
No, I have no conflicts of interest to declare     
 
Are you an elector in the Village of Franklin? Yes   
 
 
 
_________________________________   _____________________ 
Signature of Applicant      Date 
 
  



 



Nicholas B. Bevins

Department of Radiology Cell: (313) 694-0187
Henry Ford Hospital Office: (313) 916-2878
2799 W. Grand Blvd
Detroit, MI, 48202 Email: nick@rad.hfh.edu

Contact

Senior Staff Physicist, Henry Ford Health System, Detroit, MI 2014–presentEmployment
· Vice Chair, Radiology 2021–present
· Division Head, Imaging Physics 2017–present
· Program Director, Imaging Physics Residency 2017–present
· Primary Areas of Interest: Informatics, CT, Mammography, Fluoroscopy

Imaging Physics Residency, Henry Ford Health System, Detroit, MI 2012–2014Education

Ph.D., Medical Physics, The University of Wisconsin–Madison 2007–2012
· Dissertation topic: X-ray phase contrast imaging and computed tomography

B.S., Physics, The Pennsylvania State University 2003–2007
· Phi Betta Kappa, with Honors and Distinction, Schreyer Honors College

American Board of RadiologyCertifications
· Diagnostic Medical Physics 2015

American Association of Physicists in Medicine (AAPM)Professional
· Chair, Working Group on DICOM Coordination 2019-present
· Vice Chair, Working Group on DICOM Coordination 2015-2018
· Chair, Imaging Informatics Subcommittee 2021-present
· Vice Chair, Imaging Informatics Subcommittee 2016-2020
· Co-Chair, TG 270: Display QA 2014-2019
· Member, Science Council 2019-present
· Member, Imaging Physics Committee 2016-2018, 2021-present
· Member, WG on Diagnostic Demand and Supply Projection 2019-present
· Member, WG on IEC Coordination 2020-present
· Member, TG 260: Use of Handheld Devices for Viewing Medical Images 2015-2018
· Member, TG 322: Task Group for Color Displays in Medicine 2017-present
· Member, TG 316: Ultrasound Display Presentation Consistency 2018-present
· AAPM Representative, DICOM WG 02: Projection Radiography 2015-present
· AAPM Representative, DICOM WG 11: Display Function Standard 2015-present

Radiological Society of North America (RSNA)
· Physics Captain, RSNA Educational Exhibits Award Committee 2014-2018
· Member, RSNA Educational Exhibits Award Committee 2013

Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine (DICOM)
· Member, DICOM Standard Committee 2019-present
· Member, DICOM Working Group 02: Projection Radiography 2016-present
· Member, DICOM Working Group 11: Display Function Standard 2016-present
· Member, DICOM Working Group 28: Physics 2016-present
· Member, DICOM Working Group 33: Data Archive and Management 2020-present

1 of 7

http://www.henryford.com/body_academic.cfm?id=40344
http://www.henryford.com
mailto:nick@rad.hfh.edu
http://www.henryford.com
https://www.henryford.com/hcp/med-ed/residencies-fellowships/hfh/imaging-physics
https://www.henryford.com/hcp/med-ed/residencies-fellowships/hfh/imaging-physics
http://www.henryford.com
http://www.medphysics.wisc.edu/
http://www.wisc.edu/
http://www.medphysics.wisc.edu/grads/abstracts/Bevins_Nicholas_2012_abstract_DAT.pdf
http://www.phys.psu.edu/
http://www.pbk.org
http://www.shc.psu.edu/
http://www.registrar.psu.edu/graduation/distinction.cfm
http://www.shc.psu.edu/
http://theabr.org
http://www.aapm.org/
http://www.aapm.org/org/structure/default.asp?committee_code=DICOMC
http://www.aapm.org/org/structure/default.asp?committee_code=DICOMC
http://www.aapm.org/org/structure/default.asp?committee_code=IISC
http://www.aapm.org/org/structure/default.asp?committee_code=IISC
http://www.aapm.org/org/structure/default.asp?committee_code=TG270
http://www.aapm.org/org/structure/default.asp?committee_code=SC
http://www.aapm.org/org/structure/default.asp?committee_code=IPC
http://www.aapm.org/org/structure/default.asp?committee_code=DDSPWG
https://www.aapm.org/org/structure/default.asp?committee_code=WGIEC
http://www.aapm.org/org/structure/default.asp?committee_code=TG260
https://www.aapm.org/org/structure/default.asp?committee_code=TG322
https://www.aapm.org/org/structure/default.asp?committee_code=TG316
http://www.rsna.org/
http://www.dicomstandard.org/
https://www.dicomstandard.org/wgs/dsc
https://www.dicomstandard.org/wgs/wg-02/
https://www.dicomstandard.org/wgs/wg-11/
https://www.dicomstandard.org/wgs/wg-28/
https://www.dicomstandard.org/wgs/wg-33/


American Board of Radiology (ABR)
· Item Writer, Diagnostic Medical Physics OLA Committee 2017-present
· Oral Examiner

International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC)
· Special Expert, SC 62B/WG 51, Medical Image Display Systems 2020-present

Peer Reviewer
· Medical Physics
· Journal of Applied Clinical Medical Physics (JACMP)
· Journal of Digital Imaging (JDI)

Henry Ford Health SystemTeaching
Imaging Physics Lectures 2012–present
· Provide physics education lectures and hands-on demonstrations to radiologists,

radiology residents, technologists, and staff

Nicholas Bevins, Joel Gray, Mark Supanich, Zheng Feng Lu, Jeff Frimeth, “Considera-Invited
Presentations tions for Evaluating Color Displays,” 63rd Annual Meeting of The American Association

of Physicists in Medicine (AAPM) (2021)

Nicholas Bevins, Alisa Walz-Flannigan, Michael Flynn, “Display QC,” 60th Annual
Meeting of The American Association of Physicists in Medicine (AAPM) in Nashville,
TN (2018)

Alisa Walz-Flannigan, Nicholas Bevins, Michael Silosky, “Update On Task Group 270:
Display Quality Assurance,” 59th Annual Meeting of The American Association of Physi-
cists in Medicine (AAPM) in Denver, CO (2017)

Edward H. Lee, Jimmy Zheng, Errol Colak, Maryam Mohammadzadeh, Golnaz Housh-Publications
mand, Nicholas Bevins, Felipe Kitamura, Emre Altinmakas, Eduardo Pontes Reis,
Jae-Kwang Kim, Chad Klochko, Michelle Han, Sadegh Moradian, Ali Mohammadzadeh,
Hashem Sharifian, Hassan Hashemi, Kavous Firouznia, Hossien Ghanaati, Masoumeh
Gity, Hakan Doğan, Hojjat Salehinejad, Henrique Alves, Jayne Seekins, Nitamar Ab-
dala, Çetin Atasoy, Hamidreza Pouraliakbar, Majid Maleki, S. Simon Wong, Kristen W.
Yeom, “Deep COVID DeteCT: an international experience on COVID-19 lung detection
and prognosis using chest CT,” Digital Medicine 4(11), (2021). [Link]

Yener Yeni, Daniel Oravec, Joshua Drost, Nicholas Bevins, Courtney Morrison, and
Michael Flynn, “Bone Health Assessment via Digital Wrist Tomosynthesis in the Mam-
mography Setting,” Bone 144(2021), 115804 (2020). [Link]

Ran Zhang, Xin Tie, Zhihua Qi, Nicholas Bevins, Chengzhu Zhang, Dalton Griner,
Thomas Song, Jeffery Nadig, Mark Schiebler, John Garrett, Ke Li, Scott Reeder, Guang-
Hong Chen, “Diagnosis of COVID-19 Pneumonia Using Chest Radiography: Value of
Artificial Intelligence,” Radiology 236(2), 420-426 (2020). [Link]

Nicholas Bevins, Michael Silosky, Aldo Badano, Rebecca Marsh, Michael Flynn, Al-
isa Walz-Flannigan, “Practical Applications of AAPM Report 270 in Display Quality
Assurance: A Report of Task Group 270,” Med. Phys. 47(9), e920-e928 (2020). [Link]

Nicholas Bevins, Michael Flynn, Michael Silosky, Rebecca Marsh, Alisa Walz-Flannigan,
Aldo Badano, “AAPM Report 270: Display Quality Assurance,” AAPM (2019). [Link]

2 of 7

http://www.theabr.org/
http://online.medphys.org/
http://www.jacmp.org/
https://www.springer.com/journal/10278
http://www.henryford.com/
https://doi.org/10.1038/s41746-020-00369-1
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2020.115804
https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2020202944
http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/mp.14227
https://www.aapm.org/pubs/reports/detail.asp?docid=183


Thomas Ruckdeschel, Carl Keener, James Kofler, Paul Nagy, Ehsan Samei, Nicholas
Bevins, Donald Lewis, Katherine Andriole, Elizabeth Krupinski, J. Anthony Seibert,
Alexander Towbin, “ACR–AAPM–SIIM Technical Standard for Electronic Practice of
Medical Imaging,” ACR (2017). [Link]

Ishtiaq Bercha, Ralph Lieto, Steven Don, Douglas Pfeiffer, P. Jonnalagadda, Nicholas
Bevins, A. Kyle Jones, Katherine Andriole, Elizabeth Krupinski, J. Anthony Seibert,
Alexander Towbin, Srini Tridanapani, John Amodio, Evelyn Anthony, John Cassese,
“ACR–AAPM–SIIM-SPR Practice Parameter for Digital Radiography,” ACR (2017).
[Link]

Ke Li, Yongshuai Ge, John Garrett, Nicholas Bevins, Joseph Zambelli, and Guang-
Hong Chen, “Grating-based phase contrast tomosynthesis imaging: Proof-of-concept ex-
perimental studies,” Med. Phys. 41(1), 011903 (2014). [Link]

Ke Li, Joseph Zambelli, Nicholas Bevins, Yongshuai Ge, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Spa-
tial resolution characterization of differential phase contrast CT systems via modulation
transfer function (MTF) measurements,” Phys. Med. Biol. 58(12), 4119 (2013). [Link]

Ke Li, Nicholas Bevins, Joseph Zambelli, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Fundamental rela-
tionship between the noise properties of grating-based differential phase contrast CT and
absorption CT: Theoretical framework using a cascaded system model and experimental
validation,” Med. Phys. 40(2), 021908 (2013). [Link]

Nicholas Bevins, Joseph Zambelli, Ke Li, Zhihua Qi, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Multi-
contrast x-ray computed tomography imaging using Talbot-Lau interferometry without
phase stepping,” Med. Phys. 39(1), 424-428 (2012). [Link]

Pascal Thériault Lauzier, Zhihua Qi, Joseph Zambelli, Nicholas Bevins, and Guang-
Hong Chen, “Interior tomography in x-ray differential phase contrast CT imaging,” Phys.
Med. Biol. 57(9), N117-N130 (2012). [Link]

Guang-Hong Chen, Joseph Zambelli, Ke Li, Nicholas Bevins, and Zhihua Qi, “Scal-
ing law for noise variance and spatial resolution in differential phase contrast computed
tomography,” Med. Phys. 38, 584 (2011). [Link]

Guang-Hong Chen, Pascal Theriault-Lauzier, Jie Tang, Brian Nett, Shuai Leng, Joseph
Zambelli, Zhihua Qi, Nicholas Bevins, Amish Raval, and Howard Rowley, “Time-
resolved interventional cardiac C-arm cone-beam CT: An application of the PICCS algo-
rithm.,” IEEE transactions on medical imaging 31, 907–923 (2011). [Link]

Guang-Hong Chen, Nicholas Bevins, Joseph Zambelli, and Zhihua Qi, “Small-angle
scattering computed tomography (SAS-CT) using a Talbot-Lau interferometer and a
rotating anode x-ray tube: theory and experiments,” Opt Express 18(12), 12960-12970
(2010). [Link]

Guang-Hong Chen, Joseph Zambelli, Nicholas Bevins, Zhihua Qi, and Ke Li, “X-
ray phase sensitive imaging methods: basic physical principles and potential medical
applications,” Curr. Med. Imaging Rev. 6(2), 90-99 (2010).

Zhihua Qi, Joseph Zambelli, Nicholas Bevins, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Quantitative
imaging of electron density and effective atomic number using phase contrast CT,” Phys.
Med. Biol. 55, 2669-2677 (2010). [Link]

3 of 7

https://www.acr.org/-/media/ACR/Files/Practice-Parameters/elec-practice-medimag.pdf
https://www.acr.org/-/media/ACR/Files/Practice-Parameters/rad-digital.pdf
http://dx.doi.org/10.1118/1.4835455
http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/0031-9155/58/12/4119
http://dx.doi.org/10.1118/1.4788647
http://dx.doi.org/10.1118/1.3672163
http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/0031-9155/57/9/N117
http://dx.doi.org/10.1118/1.3533718
http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TMI.2011.2172951
http://dx.doi.org/10.1364/OE.18.012960
http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/0031-9155/55/9/016


Joseph Zambelli, Nicholas Bevins, Zhihua Qi, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Radiation dose
efficiency comparison between differential phase contrast CT and conventional absorption
CT,” Med. Phys. 37, 2473-2479 (2010). [Link]

Qi Z, Wang D, Lee J, Song T, Pantelic M, Keimig T, Nadig J, Reeser N, Zemke D,Proceedings
Publications Seger N, and Nicholas Bevins, “Prediction Of Contrast Enhancement In Left Atrial

Appendage (LAA) CT Through A Numerical Modeling Approach,” Journal of Cardio-
vascular Computed Tomography 14 (3):S36-S37 (2020) [Link]

Nicholas Bevins, Ke Li, Joseph Zambelli, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Type II beam
hardening artifacts in phase contrast imaging,” Proc. SPIE (8668), 866816 (2013). [Link]

Ke Li, Nicholas Bevins, Joseph Zambelli, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Experimental mea-
surement of the modulation transfer function of differential phase contrast CT systems,”
Proc. SPIE (8668), 866856 (2013). [Link]

Ke Li, Nicholas Bevins, Joseph Zambelli, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Model observer
and human observer performance studies in differential phase contrast CT,” Proc. SPIE
(8668), 866817 (2013). [Link]

Ke Li, John Garrett, Nicholas Bevins, Joseph Zambelli, and Guang-Hong Chen, “How
to determine detection performance of a DPC-CT system from a conventional cone beam
CT system?,” Proc. SPIE (8668), 866811 (2013). [Link]

Kai Niu, Ke Li, Zhihua Qi, Nicholas Bevins, Joseph Zambelli, and Guang-Hong Chen,
“A statistical image reconstruction method to reduce small angle scattering induced
streaking artifacts in differential phase contrast CT,” Proc. SPIE (8668), 86684Y (2013).
[Link]

Nicholas Bevins, Joseph Zambelli, Ke Li, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Comparison of
phase contrast signal extraction techniques,” AIP Conf. Proc. (1466), 169 (2012). [Link]

Ke Li, Nicholas Bevins, Joseph Zambelli, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Feasibility of differ-
ential phase contrast CT for whole body imaging,” AIP Conf. Proc. (1466), 175 (2012).
[Link]

Nicholas Bevins, Joseph Zambelli, Ke Li, Zhihua Qi, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Ex-
perimental study of the impact of small-angle scatterers on the x-ray dark field imaging
contrast mechanism,” Proc. SPIE (8313), 83135L (2012). [Link]

Ke Li, Nicholas Bevins, Joseph Zambelli, Zhihua Qi, and Guang-Hong Chen, “De-
tection performance study for cone-beam differential phase contrast CT,” Proc. SPIE
(8313), 83131L (2012). [Link]

Ke Li, Nicholas Bevins, Joseph Zambelli, and Guang-Hong Chen, “A new image recon-
struction method to improve noise properties in x-ray differential phase contrast computed
tomography,” Proc. SPIE (8313), 83131V (2012). [Link]

Ke Li, Nicholas Bevins, Joseph Zambelli, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Differential phase
contrast tomosynthesis imaging,” Proc. SPIE (8313), 83131Z (2012). [Link]

Joseph Zambelli, Ke Li, Nicholas Bevins, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Optimization of
grating designs for x-ray differential phase contrast imaging,” Proc. SPIE (8313), 83135B
(2012). [Link]

4 of 7

http://dx.doi.org/10.1118/1.3425785
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcct.2020.06.052
http://dx.doi.org/10.1117/12.2007035
http://dx.doi.org/10.1117/12.2008081
http://dx.doi.org/10.1117/12.2008102
http://dx.doi.org/10.1117/12.2008087
http://dx.doi.org/10.1117/12.2007739
http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.4742287
http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.4742288
http://dx.doi.org/10.1117/12.911560
http://dx.doi.org/10.1117/12.911593
http://dx.doi.org/10.1117/12.911604
http://dx.doi.org/10.1117/12.911583
http://dx.doi.org/10.1117/12.911584


Nicholas Bevins, Joseph Zambelli, Ke Li, Zhihua Qi, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Beam
hardening in x-ray differential phase contrast computed tomography,” Proc. SPIE 7961,
79611H (2011). [Link]

Zhihua Qi, Pascal Thériault-Lauzier, Nicholas Bevins, Joseph Zambelli, Ke Li, and
Guang-Hong Chen, “Helical x-ray differential phase contrast computed tomography,”
Proc. SPIE 7961, 79611Q (2011). [Link]

Joseph Zambelli, Ke Li, Nicholas Bevins, Zhihua Qi, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Noise
characteristics of x-ray differential phase contrast CT,” Proc. SPIE 7961, 79613N (2011).
[Link]

Nicholas Bevins, Joseph Zambelli, Zhihua Qi, and Guang-Hong Chen, “X-ray dark-
field computed tomography using a grating interferometer setup,” Proc. SPIE 7622,
(2010). [Link]

Pascal Thériault-Lauzier, Zhihua Qi, Joseph Zambelli, Nicholas Bevins, and Guang-
Hong Chen, “Accurate Image Reconstruction of a Small ROI using Fully Truncated
Data in Differential Phase Contrast Computed Tomography,” Proc. SPIE 7622, 76221U
(2010). [Link]

Zhihua Qi, Joseph Zambelli, Nicholas Bevins, and Guang-Hong Chen, “A novel quan-
titative imaging technique for material differentiation based on differential phase contrast
CT,” Proc. SPIE 7622, 76220O (2010). [Link]

Joseph Zambelli, Nicholas Bevins, Zhihua Qi, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Measurement
of contrast-to-noise ratio for differential phase contrast computed tomography,” Proc.
SPIE 7622, 76224C (2010). [Link]

Guang-Hong Chen, Jie Tang, B. Nett, S. Leng, Joseph Zambelli, Zhihua Qi, Nicholas
Bevins, S. Reeder, and H. Rowley, “High temporal resolution cardiac cone-beam CT
using a slowly rotating C-arm gantry,” Proc. SPIE 7258, 72580C (2009). [Link]

Zhihua Qi, Joseph Zambelli, Nicholas Bevins, and Guang-Hong Chen, “A novel method
to reduce data acquisition time in differential phase contrast computed tomography using
compressed sensing,” Proc. SPIE 7258, 72584A (2009). [Link]

Erin Macdonald, Matt Vanderhoek, Courtney Morrison, Alan Jackson, Nicholas Bevins,Conference
Abstracts “Convenient Calculation of Radiation Workloads for Cardiac Angiography Using Dose

Area Product,” AAPM (2021).

Yener Yeni, Daniel Oravec, Joshua Drost, Nicholas Bevins, Courtney Morrison, Michael
Flynn, “Bone Health Assessment via Digital Wrist Tomosynthesis in the Mammography
Setting,” Orthopaedic Research Society (2021).

Erin Macdonald, Zhihua Qi, Nicholas Bevins, “Machine Learning-Based Prediction of
Contrast Enhancement in Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement CT,” AAPM (2020).

Courtney Morrison, Erin Macdonald, Nicholas Bevins, “Variations in Signal-to-Noise
Characteristics of Tissue-Equivalent Attenuators for Automatic Exposure Control System
Performance Evaluation in Mammography,” AAPM (2020).

5 of 7

http://dx.doi.org/10.1117/12.878483
http://dx.doi.org/10.1117/12.878494
http://dx.doi.org/10.1117/12.878497
http://dx.doi.org/10.1117/12.844438
http://dx.doi.org/10.1117/12.844563
http://dx.doi.org/10.1117/12.844536
http://dx.doi.org/10.1117/12.844448
http://dx.doi.org/10.1117/12.813810
http://dx.doi.org/10.1117/12.813861


Zhihua Qi, Nicholas Bevins, Beth Harkness, “Automated Review of Routine QC Imag-
ing from SPECT Systems Using Noise Power Spectrum (NPS) Analysis,” AAPM (2018).

P. Joseph Massa, Mitchell Pilat, Nicholas Bevins, Matt Vanderhoek, “Factors affecting
residual catheter hub radioactivity during intrahepatic delivery of 90Y TheraSphere,”
SIR (2018).

Nicholas Bevins, Timothy Szczykutowicz, Nathan Busse, “How to Prepare for and
Navigate the Board Certification Process in Diagnostic and Nuclear Imaging,” AAPM
(2017).

Matt Vanderhoek, Nicholas Bevins, “Hands-On Fluoroscopy Safety Training with Real-
Time Patient and Staff Dosimetry,” AAPM (2016). [Link]

Eric Rinker, Enrique Rodriguez, Matt Vanderhoek, Nicholas Bevins, Scott Schwartz,
“Radiation exposure in radial versus femoral artery access in interventional radiology,”
Society of Interventional Radiology (2016). [Link]

Vivek Singh, Matt Vanderhoek, Nicholas Bevins, “A new technique for fluoroscopic
radiation field size confirmation,” AAPM (2015). [Link]

Matt Vanderhoek, Samantha Simiele, Joseph Zambelli, Nicholas Bevins, Robert Mac-
Dougall, “Preparing for the ABR Diagnostic and Nuclear Medicine Physics Exams,”
AAPM (2015). [Link]

Sarah McKenney, Nicholas Bevins, Elena Olariu, Michael Flynn, “A Six-Year Longitu-
dinal Evaluation of the DICOM GSDF Conformance Stability of LCD Monitors,” AAPM
(2015). [Link]

Nicholas Bevins, Michael Flynn, Donald Peck, “Open Source Software Solutions for
Monitor Calibration and Quality Control,” RSNA (2014).

Nicholas Bevins, Matt Vanderhoek, Susan Lang, Michael Flynn, “Open Source Monitor
Calibration and Quality Control Software for Enterprise Display Management,” AAPM
(2014). [Link]

Michael Flynn, Nicholas Bevins, “pacsDisplay,” Open Source Plug Fest: SIIM Annual
Meeting (2014)

Mark Supanich, Nicholas Bevins, “The Behavior of AEC in Scan Regions Outside the
Localizer Radiograph FOV: An In Phantom Study of CT Systems From Four Vendors,”
AAPM (2014). [Link]

Nicholas Bevins, Beth Harkness, Thomas Fletcher, “Incorporating Estimates and Cal-
culations of Absorbed Organ Dose from Radiopharmaceuticals into a Nuclear Medicine
Protocol Management Intranet,” RSNA (2013).

Mark Supanich, Nicholas Bevins, Daniel Myers, “Reducing Radiation Dose in CT
Abdomen and Pelvis Studies: How ACR DIR Registry Data Can Be an Impetus for
Quality Improvement,” RSNA (2013).

Nicholas Bevins, Timothy Szczykutowicz, Mark Supanich, “A Simple Method for Sim-
ulating Reduced-Dose Images for Evaluation of Clinical CT Protocols,” AAPM (2013).
[Link]

6 of 7

http://dx.doi.org/10.1118/1.4957221
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jvir.2015.12.374 
http://dx.doi.org/10.1118/1.4926194
http://dx.doi.org/10.1118/1.4925916
http://dx.doi.org/10.1118/1.4925944
http://dx.doi.org/10.1118/1.4889422
http://dx.doi.org/10.1118/1.4887997
http://dx.doi.org/10.1118/1.4815395


Nicholas Bevins, Alan Jackson, “Measurements of Radium-223 Activity in Nuclear
Medicine Department,” HPS (2013).

Mark Supanich, Nicholas Bevins, and Matt Vanderhoek, “Monitoring Compliance with
Institutional CTDIvol Notification Value Policy,” HPS (2013).

Nicholas Bevins, Joseph Zambelli, Ke Li, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Performance Eval-
uation of Fast Data Acquisition Methods in Differential Phase Contrast CT,” RSNA
(2012).

Ke Li, Nicholas Bevins, Joseph Zambelli, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Human Observer
Performance Studies of X-ray Differential Phase Contrast CT,” RSNA (2012).

Ke Li, Joseph Zambelli, Nicholas Bevins, Zhihua Qi, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Per-
formance Study of Regularized Phase Retrieval From X-Ray Differential Phase Contrast
Projection Image,” AAPM (2012). [Link]

Joseph Zambelli, Nicholas Bevins, Zhihua Qi, Ke Li, and Guang-Hong Chen, “Multi-
contrast Cone Beam CT Imaging Using a Talbot-Lau Interferometer,” RSNA (2010).

7 of 7

http://dx.doi.org/10.1118/1.3613447






08/09/2021 

 

 

VILLAGE OF FRANKLIN, MICHIGAN 

RESOLUTION TO ADOPT RULES FOR ELECTRONIC MEETINGS 

WHEREAS, the Michigan Open Meetings Act, MCL 15.261 et seq. was recently amended 

by the adoption of Public Act 228 of 2020 to permit the remote attendance by members of a public 

body using telephonic or video conferencing means; and 

WHEREAS, at its May 10, 2021, the Village Council Resolved to provide the opportunity 

to meet electronically due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, which Resolution is set to expire by its 

own terms by August 31, 2021; 

WHEREAS, a recent surge in confirmed novel coronavirus cases, including the Delta 

variant, Oakland County has expressed that it is within a seven-day average of 78 COVID-19 cases 

per day, which is firmly in the “substantial” range of the CDC’s guidance for everyone to wear a 

mask indoors regardless of vaccination status; 

WHEREAS, the above stated recent surge is likely to escalate based upon CDC warnings, 

which may require that Village Council to meet and conduct the public business of the Village in a 

manner that permits both the general public and members of the Village Council and other Village 

boards and commissions subject to the Open Meetings Act to participate by electronic means for 

the safety and health of the community; 

WHEREAS, the Village Council desires to extend the above Resolution until December 

31, 2021, under the below terms. 

THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED by the Franklin Village Council that the Rules of 

Conduct, as codified in Chapter 220 of the Codified Ordinances, are hereby amended to add the 

following provisions: 

ELECTRONIC MEETINGS 

Rule 31. ELECTRONIC MEETINGS AUTHORIZED 

The Village Council may meet and conduct its meetings, in whole or in part, by electronic 

means using telephone conferencing or video conferencing technology without regard to 

physical place and physical presence requirements, in accordance with Section 3a of the 

Open Meetings Act, MCL 15.263a, as amended, through December 31, 2020. 

Beginning January 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021, Village Council meetings may be 

held, in whole or in part, by electronic means using telephone conferencing or video 

conferencing technology due to circumstances requiring accommodation of any Village 

Councilmember absent because of military duty, a medical condition, or when a declared 

statewide or local state of emergency or state of disaster exists and the personal health or 

safety of members of the public or public body would be at risk if the meeting were held 



 

2 

in person. As used in these Rules, the term “medical condition” means an illness, injury, 

disability, or other health-related condition, including the quarantine or isolation of a 

Village Councilmember to minimize the spread of a contagious disease. 

Beginning January 1, 2022 members of the Village Council may participate by electronic 

means in Village Council meetings only to accommodate their absence due to military 

duty.  

Rule 32. CONDUCT OF ELECTRONIC MEETINGS 

An electronic meeting of the Village Council will be conducted in a manner that permits 

two-way communication so that members of the Council can hear and be heard by one 

another, and so that public participants can hear members of the Village Council and be 

heard by both the Council and other public participants. The Village may use technology 

to facilitate typed public comments submitted by members of the public participating in 

the electronically-held meeting that shall be read to or shared with members of the Village 

Council and other participants. 

As permitted by the Open Meetings Act, a physical place is not required for an 

electronically-held meeting. Members of the Village Council and members of the public 

participating electronically in a meeting that occurs in a physical place are considered 

present and in attendance at the meeting for all purposes. For a meeting at which Village 

Councilmembers are physically absent due to military duty or a medical condition and who 

are being accommodated by remote participation, all other Village Councilmembers must 

be physically present at the meeting to be able to participate. 

In addition to any other notice required by the Open Meetings Act, advance notice of an 

electronically-held meeting shall be posted on a portion of the Village’s website that is 

fully accessible to the public. The public notice must be included on either the home page 

or a separate webpage dedicated to public notices for non-regularly scheduled or 

electronically-held public meetings that is accessible through a prominent and conspicuous 

link on the Village's website home page that clearly describes its purpose for public 

notification of non-regularly scheduled or electronically-held public meetings. Any 

scheduled meeting of the Village Council may be held as an electronic meeting as 

permitted by the Open Meetings Act if a notice consistent with this Rule is posted at least 

18 hours before the meeting begins. Any notice of the meeting of the Village Commission 

held electronically must clearly contain all of the following: 

(a) Why the Village Council is meeting electronically; 

(b) How members of the public may participate in the meeting  electronically 

(if a telephone number, internet address or both are required to participate, 

that information must be provided in the notice); 



 

3 

(c) How members of the public may contact members of the Village Council 

to provide input or ask questions on any business that will come before the 

Council at the meeting; and 

(d) How persons with disabilities may participate in the meeting. 

If an agenda exists for an electronically held meeting of the Village Council, the Village 

shall, on a portion of its website that is fully accessible to the public make the agenda of 

the meeting available to the public at least 2 hours before the meeting begins. This 

publication of the meeting agenda does not prohibit subsequent amendment of the agenda 

at the meeting. 

A member of the general public is not required to register or otherwise provide his or her 

name or other information or otherwise fulfill a condition precedent to attend an 

electronically-held meeting, other than mechanisms established and required by the Village 

necessary to permit the individual to participate in a public comment period of the meeting. 

Members of the general public otherwise participating in an electronically-held meeting of 

the Village Council are excluded from participation in a closed session of the Village 

Council that is held electronically provided that the closed session is convened and held in 

compliance with the requirements of the Open Meetings Act applicable to closed sessions. 

Rule 33. AGENDA FOR REGULAR BUSINESS MEETINGS; ELECTRONIC 

MEETINGS 

The order of business for all meetings of the Village Council conducted electronically and 

held during through December 31, 2020, and held beginning January 1, 2021 through 

December 31, 2021 for Village Council meetings held, in whole or in part, by electronic 

means using telephone conferencing or video conferencing technology when a declared 

statewide or local state of emergency or state of disaster exists shall be as follows: Call to 

Order; Roll Call; Adoption of Agenda; Approval of Minutes of previous meeting(s); 

Reports of Village Officers and agents; Submission of current bills; Public requests and 

comments; Unfinished business; New business; and Adjournment. The order of business 

outlined in this paragraph is not applicable when electronic means is used to accommodate 

the absence of individual Village Councilmembers due to military duty or a medical 

condition. 

Rule 34. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

During Village Council meetings conducted electronically, members of the public 

attending the meeting, once recognized by the chair, shall identify themselves for the record 

and indicate the municipality where they reside. Comments by the public will be limited to 

2 minutes for each speaker unless the time is extended by the chair or by vote of the 

Council.  Comments by the public during electronic meetings will be restricted to the public 

requests and comments portion of the meeting. 



 

4 

Rule 35. COUNCILMEMBER ATTENDANCE BY PHONE/VIDEO 

A member of the Village Council who anticipates being absent from a meeting due to the 

circumstances set forth in the Open Meetings Act and these Rules may request 

accommodation of their absence to permit their remote participation in and voting on 

Commission business by two-way telephonic or video conferencing communication. A 

Village Councilmember who desires to attend a meeting by telephonic or video 

conferencing shall inform the Village Administrator, or the Village Administrator’s 

designee, at least 24 hours before the meeting to permit any necessary technology to be put 

in place to accommodate participation of the absent member. Village Councilmembers 

attending a meeting by telephone or video conferencing may fully participate in the 

meeting, including voting and attendance in any closed session of the Village Council. A 

Councilmember participating by telephonic or video conferencing is not permitted to chair 

the meeting unless all Council members are participating by telephone or video 

conferencing. 

 

Any member of the Village Council attending a meeting remotely must publicly announce 

at the outset of the meeting (which shall be included in meeting minutes) that the member 

is attending the meeting remotely. If the member is attending the meeting remotely for a 

purpose other than for military duty, the member's announcement must identify the 

member’s physical location by stating the city, village or township and the state from which 

the member is attending the meeting remotely. 

Rule 36. OTHER BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 

All other Village boards and commissions and the members thereof are governed by and 

shall conform to the provisions contained in these Rules setting forth the requirements and 

procedures by which absent members and the public may remotely participate in meetings 

electronically by telephone or video conferencing. In the event of any conflict between 

these rules and the bylaws or procedural rules of the other board or commission, this Rule 

is controlling authority. 



0811/0910/20210 

 

 

VILLAGE OF FRANKLIN, MICHIGAN 

RESOLUTION TO ADOPT RULES FOR ELECTRONIC MEETINGS 

WHEREAS, the Michigan Open Meetings Act, MCL 15.261 et seq. was recently amended 

by the adoption of Public Act 228 of 2020 to permit the remote attendance by members of a public 

body using telephonic or video conferencing means; and 

WHEREAS, at its May 10, 2021, the Village Council Resolved to provide the opportunity 

to meet electronically due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, which Resolution is set to expire by its 

own terms by August 31, 2021; 

WHEREAS, a recent surge in confirmed novel coronavirus cases, including the Delta 

variant, Oakland County has expressed that it is within a seven-day average of 78 COVID-19 cases 

per day, which is firmly in the “substantial” range of the CDC’s guidance for everyone to wear a 

mask indoors regardless of vaccination status; 

WHEREAS, the above stated recent surge is likely to escalate based upon CDC warnings, 

which may require that Village Council to meet and conduct the public business of the Village in a 

manner that permits both the general public and members of the Village Council and other Village 

boards and commissions subject to the Open Meetings Act to participate by electronic means for 

the safety and health of the community; 

WHEREAS, the Village Council desires to extend the above Resolution until December 

31, 2021, under the below termsto continue to meet and conduct the public business of the Village 

in a manner that permits both the general public and members of the Village Council and other 

Village boards and commissions subject to the Open Meetings Act to participate by electronic 

means. 

THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED by the Franklin Village Council that the Rules of 

Conduct, as codified in Chapter 220 of the Codified Ordinances, are hereby amended to add the 

following provisions: 

ELECTRONIC MEETINGS 

Rule 31. ELECTRONIC MEETINGS AUTHORIZED 

The Village Council may meet and conduct its meetings, in whole or in part, by electronic 

means using telephone conferencing or video conferencing technology without regard to 

physical place and physical presence requirements, in accordance with Section 3a of the 

Open Meetings Act, MCL 15.263a, as amended, through December 31, 2020. 

Beginning January 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021, Village Council meetings may be 

held, in whole or in part, by electronic means using telephone conferencing or video 

conferencing technology due to circumstances requiring accommodation of any Village 



 

2 

Councilmember absent because of military duty, a medical condition, or when a declared 

statewide or local state of emergency or state of disaster exists and the personal health or 

safety of members of the public or public body would be at risk if the meeting were held 

in person. As used in these Rules, the term “medical condition” means an illness, injury, 

disability, or other health-related condition, including the quarantine or isolation of a 

Village Councilmember to minimize the spread of a contagious disease. 

Beginning January 1, 2022 members of the Village Council may participate by electronic 

means in Village Council meetings only to accommodate their absence due to military 

duty.  

Rule 32. CONDUCT OF ELECTRONIC MEETINGS 

An electronic meeting of the Village Council will be conducted in a manner that permits 

two-way communication so that members of the Council can hear and be heard by one 

another, and so that public participants can hear members of the Village Council and be 

heard by both the Council and other public participants. The Village may use technology 

to facilitate typed public comments submitted by members of the public participating in 

the electronically-held meeting that shall be read to or shared with members of the Village 

Council and other participants. 

As permitted by the Open Meetings Act, a physical place is not required for an 

electronically-held meeting. Members of the Village Council and members of the public 

participating electronically in a meeting that occurs in a physical place are considered 

present and in attendance at the meeting for all purposes. For a meeting at which Village 

Councilmembers are physically absent due to military duty or a medical condition and who 

are being accommodated by remote participation, all other Village Councilmembers must 

be physically present at the meeting to be able to participate. 

In addition to any other notice required by the Open Meetings Act, advance notice of an 

electronically-held meeting shall be posted on a portion of the Village’s website that is 

fully accessible to the public. The public notice must be included on either the home page 

or a separate webpage dedicated to public notices for non-regularly scheduled or 

electronically-held public meetings that is accessible through a prominent and conspicuous 

link on the Village's website home page that clearly describes its purpose for public 

notification of non-regularly scheduled or electronically-held public meetings. Any 

scheduled meeting of the Village Council may be held as an electronic meeting as 

permitted by the Open Meetings Act if a notice consistent with this Rule is posted at least 

18 hours before the meeting begins. Any notice of the meeting of the Village Commission 

held electronically must clearly contain all of the following: 

(a) Why the Village Council is meeting electronically; 

(b) How members of the public may participate in the meeting  electronically 

(if a telephone number, internet address or both are required to participate, 

that information must be provided in the notice); 



 

3 

(c) How members of the public may contact members of the Village Council 

to provide input or ask questions on any business that will come before the 

Council at the meeting; and 

(d) How persons with disabilities may participate in the meeting. 

If an agenda exists for an electronically held meeting of the Village Council, the Village 

shall, on a portion of its website that is fully accessible to the public make the agenda of 

the meeting available to the public at least 2 hours before the meeting begins. This 

publication of the meeting agenda does not prohibit subsequent amendment of the agenda 

at the meeting. 

A member of the general public is not required to register or otherwise provide his or her 

name or other information or otherwise fulfill a condition precedent to attend an 

electronically-held meeting, other than mechanisms established and required by the Village 

necessary to permit the individual to participate in a public comment period of the meeting. 

Members of the general public otherwise participating in an electronically-held meeting of 

the Village Council are excluded from participation in a closed session of the Village 

Council that is held electronically provided that the closed session is convened and held in 

compliance with the requirements of the Open Meetings Act applicable to closed sessions. 

Rule 33. AGENDA FOR REGULAR BUSINESS MEETINGS; ELECTRONIC 

MEETINGS 

The order of business for all meetings of the Village Council conducted electronically and 

held during through December 31, 2020, and held beginning January 1, 2021 through 

December 31, 2021 for Village Council meetings held, in whole or in part, by electronic 

means using telephone conferencing or video conferencing technology when a declared 

statewide or local state of emergency or state of disaster exists shall be as follows: Call to 

Order; Roll Call; Adoption of Agenda; Approval of Minutes of previous meeting(s); 

Reports of Village Officers and agents; Submission of current bills; Public requests and 

comments; Unfinished business; New business; and Adjournment. The order of business 

outlined in this paragraph is not applicable when electronic means is used to accommodate 

the absence of individual Village Councilmembers due to military duty or a medical 

condition. 

Rule 34. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

During Village Council meetings conducted electronically, members of the public 

attending the meeting, once recognized by the chair, shall identify themselves for the record 

and indicate the municipality where they reside. Comments by the public will be limited to 

2 minutes for each speaker unless the time is extended by the chair or by vote of the 

Council.  Comments by the public during electronic meetings will be restricted to the public 

requests and comments portion of the meeting. 



 

4 

Rule 35. COUNCILMEMBER ATTENDANCE BY PHONE/VIDEO 

A member of the Village Council who anticipates being absent from a meeting due to the 

circumstances set forth in the Open Meetings Act and these Rules may request 

accommodation of their absence to permit their remote participation in and voting on 

Commission business by two-way telephonic or video conferencing communication. A 

Village Councilmember who desires to attend a meeting by telephonic or video 

conferencing shall inform the Village Administrator, or the Village Administrator’s 

designee, at least 24 hours before the meeting to permit any necessary technology to be put 

in place to accommodate participation of the absent member. Village Councilmembers 

attending a meeting by telephone or video conferencing may fully participate in the 

meeting, including voting and attendance in any closed session of the Village Council. A 

Councilmember participating by telephonic or video conferencing is not permitted to chair 

the meeting unless all Council members are participating by telephone or video 

conferencing. 

 

Any member of the Village Council attending a meeting remotely must publicly announce 

at the outset of the meeting (which shall be included in meeting minutes) that the member 

is attending the meeting remotely. If the member is attending the meeting remotely for a 

purpose other than for military duty, the member's announcement must identify the 

member’s physical location by stating the city, village or township and the state from which 

the member is attending the meeting remotely. 

Rule 36. OTHER BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 

All other Village boards and commissions and the members thereof are governed by and 

shall conform to the provisions contained in these Rules setting forth the requirements and 

procedures by which absent members and the public may remotely participate in meetings 

electronically by telephone or video conferencing. In the event of any conflict between 

these rules and the bylaws or procedural rules of the other board or commission, this Rule 

is controlling authority. 



07/19/2021 

  

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2021-03 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 1268.28, ZONING, OF THE CODIFIED 

ORDINANCES OF THE VILLAGE OF FRANKLIN, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN, TO 

ADOPT REGULATIONS CONCERNING GARDEN FENCE STANDARDS. 

THE VILLAGE OF FRANKLIN ORDAINS: 

 

 

1268.28   FENCES. 

   Every fence constructed or erected in the Village shall comply with the regulations in this 

section.  No fence shall be erected, constructed, relocated, or altered until a permit has been issued 

in accordance with the requirements of this section. 

    

(a)   Definitions. 

      (1)   Fence.  “Fence” means an artificially constructed, non-vegetative barrier of natural or 

artificial materials used to prevent or control ingress/egress, confine within, or mark a boundary. 

A fence may be decorative or ornamental. Gates or barriers to entry and exit, driveway entrance 

features, screening walls, and other types of boundary protection shall be included in this 

definition. 

 

      (2)   Perimeter feature.  “Perimeter feature” means a type of fence running along the perimeter 

of a lot either on or within six feet of a lot line. 

 

      (3)   Privacy screen.  “Privacy screen” means a type of fence that is a substantially opaque 

barrier intended to screen a selected use or particular area in a private residential yard. 

 

      (4)   Interior fence.  “Interior fence” means a type of fence that is not a perimeter feature or a 

privacy screen. 

 

      (5)   Road.  “Road” has the same meaning as “street” as defined in Section 1240.08 (b)(69). 

 

      (6)   Construction fence.  “Construction fence” means a temporary artificially constructed 

fence used to prevent or control entrance or access pursuant to a permit issued by the Village of 

Franklin Building Official under Section 1268.19 of the Zoning Code. 

 

      (7)   Garden enclosure.  “Garden enclosure” is a type of interior fence that is used to enclose 

an area used for the growing of vegetables, flowers, etc. used for human consumption but not for 

commercial sale. 



    

(b)   General Requirements Applicable to All Fences. 

      (1)   Ownership.  Ownership and responsibility for maintenance of a fence resides in the owner 

of the property on which the fence is located. 

 

         A.   Provision for joint ownership.  Owners of adjoining properties may jointly apply for a 

fence permit, in which case the Building Official may permit the fence to be constructed on the 

common property line.  Both property owners shall jointly own the fence and shall be jointly and 

severably responsible for maintenance of the fence. 

 

      (2)   Fence materials.  In order to protect the beauty and established historic character of the 

Village, the following standards shall apply: 

 

         A.   The exterior of a fence shall be constructed primarily of wood, stone, brick, wrought 

iron, or other material determined by the Zoning Board of Appeals to mimic an above listed 

material. 

 

         B.   Fence materials and construction pattern must be consistent along a single lot line. 

 

         C.   Fences constructed on properties where one did not exist before must be constructed of 

the same material along any lot line where the fence is proposed to be constructed. 

 

         D.   Prohibited materials.  Razor wire and barbed wire are prohibited on any type of 

fence.  Fences utilizing wire mesh or chain link are also prohibited, except as otherwise expressly 

permitted (e.g., garden enclosures, tennis court enclosures, dog runs, baseball backstops, 

cemeteries, fences enclosing public areas, construction fences). 

 

         E.   Prohibited designs.  No permitted fence of any variety may contain decorative fence 

toppers, finials, spears or other fence toppers which contain a pointed finish if such decorative 

items are situated along the top of the primary fencing material.  Ball finials are permissible but 

only if they measure not less than three inches each in diameter.  A fence topper shall be considered 

to be pointed if the upper most portion of the topper is not larger than its base, or, if in the opinion 

of the Building Official, such a fence topper is considered to be capable of impaling or otherwise 

penetrating the flesh of any person or animal, either intentionally or through accidental or forceful 

contact with same. 

 

         F.   Electricity-conducting fences.  A fence erected around the perimeter of a pasture where 

horses or other permitted large animals are restrained may include electrified wire strands around 

the top or interior of the pasture fence.  Other fences which carry electric current are prohibited, 

except for underground electric fences as defined in Section 1240.08 (b)(23A). 

 

      (3)   Finished appearance.  If, because of design or construction, one side of a fence has a more 

finished appearance than the other, the side of the fence with the more finished appearance shall 



face the exterior of the lot. This provision concerning the finished appearance does not apply to 

jointly owned fences located on a property line. 

 

      (4)   Height.  Except as otherwise expressly permitted herein, fences shall not exceed 48 inches 

in height. As used in this section, the height of a fence is measured from the surrounding surface 

of the ground and not from any structure or localized raised surface on which the fence is situated. 

 

         A.   Fences enclosing public areas.  Fences that enclose public parks, playgrounds, or similar 

public areas located within a residential district shall not exceed 8 feet in height, except that a fence 

enclosing one or more public tennis courts can extend to 12 feet in height and a protective 

screening used for a public baseball field backstop can be made at a suitable height and length for 

its intended purpose. Tennis court fences and baseball backstops can be made of chain link fencing. 

 

      (5)   Location.  A fence shall be located entirely on the private property of the person 

responsible for the construction and maintenance of the fence. 

 

         A.   Permitted locations.  Except as specifically provided below, fences are permitted only in 

rear yards and side yards. No fence shall be permitted to extend into the front yard, except as 

otherwise specifically provided herein. For side yards and rear yards abutting a street, no fence 

shall be constructed or maintained within any required setback from the street. 

 

         B.   Path setback.  No fence shall be located closer than 12 inches from the edge of a public 

sidewalk or other public path. 

 

      (6)   Fence maintenance.  Fences shall be maintained in good condition. Rotten or broken 

components shall be replaced, repaired, or removed. If a fence is found to be in need of repair by 

the Building Official, he or she shall issue orders to complete such repairs to the owner of the land 

where the fence is located. Failure to comply with written notice from the Building Official shall 

be deemed a violation of this Zoning Code. 

 

      (7)   Obstruction of use of adjoining property.  No fence shall be erected where it would 

prevent or unreasonably obstruct the use of or access to adjacent property. The Building Official 

may require a fence to be set back up to two feet from a driveway or property line to provide for 

the safe passage of pedestrians, bicyclists, or vehicular traffic, or for other safety-related concerns. 

 

      (8)   Driver visibility. No fence shall be erected, established or maintained on any lot which 

will obstruct the view of drivers in vehicles traveling around sharp curves in the road or 

approaching an intersection of two roads or the intersection of a road and a driveway. 

 

         A.   Sharp curves. Fences located along a curve in a road shall provide drivers with an 

unobstructed sight distance that is reasonable in view of the road curvature and applicable speed 

limit for the road. The Building Official may restrict or deny a fence permit as necessary to provide 

this unobstructed sight distance. 

 



         B.   Intersections. Fences located adjacent to an intersection of two roads or an intersection 

of a road and a driveway shall not exceed 30 inches in height. An unobstructed triangular area 

shall be maintained at each intersection of roads and streets and driveways. Fences located in the 

triangular area shall not be permitted to obstruct cross-visibility above a height of 30 inches above 

the lowest point of the intersecting road(s) or driveway(s). The unobstructed triangular area shall 

consist of: 

 

            1.   In the case of two roads, the triangular area formed at the corner intersection of the two 

road right-of-way lines, with two sides of the triangular area being 25 feet in length measured 

along the intersecting right-of-way lines, and the third side being a line connecting the distal ends 

of the two 25 foot sides; and 

 

            2.   In the case of an intersecting road and driveway, the triangular area formed at the corner 

intersection of the road right of way and an edge of the driveway, with one side of the triangular 

area being ten feet in length measured along the right-of-way line, a second side being 10 feet in 

length measured along the edge of the driveway, and the third side being a line connecting the 

distal ends of the two ten foot two sides. 

 

      (9)   Tennis court enclosures. A private tennis court located on a residential lot may include a 

chain link fence enclosing each end of the court and extending towards the net no farther than 

the midpoint between the base line and service line. The chain link fence may have a maximum 

height of 12 feet and the opacity of such fence shall not exceed 50 percent. 

 

      (10)   Outdoor dog runs. One fenced pet exercise area ("dog run") may be permitted per 

residential lot, subject to the following: 

 

         A.   Location. A dog run shall not be permitted in any required front yard or required street 

side yard. 

 

         B.   Setback. A dog run shall be set back a minimum of ten feet from any lot line. 

 

         C.   Fence height. A fence enclosing a dog run shall not exceed six feet in height. 

 

         D.   Fence materials. Chain link fencing may be used to enclose a dog run. 

 

         E.   Maximum dimensions. Dog runs shall not exceed ten feet in width by 25 feet in length. 

 

         F.   Landscape screening. Dog runs shall be screened from view from adjoining properties 

with evergreen landscaping sufficient to create a complete visual barrier. 

 

    (11)    Garden enclosures.  Garden enclosures may be placed on the interior of a lot, subject to 

the following:   

 



A.  Location.  A garden enclosure shall not be permitted in any front yard nor any required 

side or rear yard.  

 

B.  Height.  Garden enclosures shall not exceed eight feet in height, inclusive of any 

structures on which they sit, including raised planter beds. 

 

C.  Materials.  Garden enclosures shall be constructed of any combination of treated wood 

or galvanized or welded wire, which may be coated with vinyl or PVC.  The fencing 

commonly referred to as “chicken wire” is expressly permitted, only so long as it is 

made of galvanized wire.  Chain link fencing is a prohibited material.  

 

D.  Opacity.  Garden enclosures’ opacity shall not exceed 20 percent. 

 

E.  Spacing.  There shall be a maximum spacing of 1” by 2” between the enclosure wires. 

 

F.  Maximum area.  Garden enclosures shall surround an area not larger than 1,000 square 

feet.  Multiple garden enclosures may be permitted on one lot, subject to the following 

allowances: 

 

TABLE OF ALLOWANCES FOR GARDEN ENCLOSURES 

Zoning 

District 

R-E R-L R-M R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 

Maximum 

number of 

enclosures 

3 3 3 3 2 2 1 

Maximum 

size of all 

garden 

enclosures in 

sq. ft. 

1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 

(1)   Perimeter Features. Typical perimeter features include those devices commonly known as 

split-rail fences, stone walls, picket fences, and wrought iron-type fences and gates. 

 

      A.  Perimeter feature area defined. For the purposes of this section, “perimeter feature area” 

shall be defined as the vertical rectangular area having sides defined as follows: 

 

         B.   Base. The base of the rectangle shall be the existing average ground surface elevation 

at the nearest perpendicular lot line. 

 

         C.   Top. The upper side of the rectangle shall be parallel to the base and 60 inches above 

the base. 

 



         D.   Sides. The two remaining sides of the rectangle shall be lines extending vertically 

between the base and top at the ends of the fence. 

 

         E.   Only one rectangle shall be used to measure each perimeter feature area on a single 

extent of the property line. 

 

 
  

      (2)   Opacity defined. For the purposes of this subsection, opacity shall be defined as the 

percentage measurement of the area obstructed by wood, metal, wire, plants, and all other 

materials used in the creation of a perimeter feature. Opacity equals the area of construction 

materials divided by the “perimeter feature area”. 

 

      (3)   Maximum opacity. The opacity of a perimeter feature shall not exceed 40 percent, 

except that the opacity of perimeter features constructed of stone or other natural materials (e.g., 

stone walls) shall be 50 percent. This maximum opacity limitation shall not apply to driveway 

entrance features for which the total length does not exceed ten percent of the length of the lot 

line along which it is located. 

 

      (4)   Location. In addition to the permitted locations provided in Section 1268.28 (b)(5), 

perimeter features may be located in the front and side yards, and street side yards under the 

following conditions. 

 

         A.   Historic District. Subject to Historic District Commission approval as required by 

Section 1268.28 (e)(2)(E), a perimeter feature may be located in a front yard or street side yard 

of a parcel located in the Franklin Village Historic District. 

 

         B.   Natural stone walls. Perimeter features made from natural stone having a height not 

exceeding 30 inches can be located in a front yard or street side yard. In the event that a 

particular architectural element (entrance gate, column, etc.) is included as an integral 

component of the stone perimeter feature, that architectural element may exceed 30 inches in 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/franklin/latest/franklin_mi/0-0-0-6298#JD_1268.28


height. The total horizontal length of such architectural elements shall not exceed the greater of 

ten feet or ten percent of the total length of the perimeter feature. 

 

      (5)   Setbacks. A perimeter feature shall be set back at least two feet from all road rights-of-

way or public easements. 

 

      (6)   Materials at a property corner. To reduce the safety hazard to pedestrians and bicyclists, 

a perimeter feature used at a property corner must be primarily constructed of materials that will 

be easily visible at night or during other times of low visibility. By way of example, thin strands 

of wire, cable, or cord shall not be permitted to be attached to standing poles to form a perimeter 

feature. 

 

      (7)   Maximum height. The maximum height of perimeter features is 48 inches. 

 

   (d)   Privacy screens. Privacy screens may be placed on the interior of a lot, subject to the 

following: 

 

      (1)   Height. Privacy screens shall not exceed six feet in height. 

 

      (2)   Location. Privacy screens shall not be located in a required yard setback area. 

 

      (3)   Limits on enclosure. A privacy screen shall be designed to screen a selected use or area 

(such as a swimming pool or patio) but not an entire side or rear yard. In no case shall a privacy 

screen be located in a front yard or both side yards. 

 

      (4)   Materials. Privacy screens shall be constructed primarily of wood, masonry, or wrought 

iron. 

 

   (e)   Construction Fences. 

 

      (1)   Height.  Construction fences shall not exceed seven feet in height. 

 

      (2)   Location.  Construction fences shall be required around any open holes during 

excavation or construction, and may be located anywhere on public or private property, 

including in any required yard. 

 

      (3)   Materials.  Construction fences shall be constructed of neutral-colored metal hoarding or 

wire mesh or chain link. 

 

      (4)   Duration.  Construction fences are permitted for the period of time during which an open 

hole, pit or well is present associated with excavation or construction, or as otherwise required 

by the Building Official as deemed necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare. 

 

   (f)   Review and Approval Procedures. 

 



      (1)   Permit required. No fence shall be erected, constructed, or altered until a permit has 

been issued in accordance with the provisions of this section. 

 

         A.   Site plan review. If a fence is proposed in conjunction with a development that requires 

site plan review, then the fence shall be shown on the site plan, which shall be reviewed in 

accordance with normal site plan review procedures. No additional permit is required when a 

fence is approved as part of a site plan. Where a fence is proposed to be added to a property for 

which a required site plan approval has previously been obtained, the approved site plan must be 

modified to show the fence and then re-submitted for action by the Building Official according 

to the application procedure of Section 1268.28 (e)(2). 

 

      (2)   Application procedure. If a proposed fence is not part of a site plan review as noted 

above, an application for a permit to construct a fence shall be filed with the Village Clerk. The 

application shall be accompanied by drawings and other information to illustrate the dimensions, 

design and location of the proposed fence. 

 

         A.   Information required. The following minimum information shall be included on the 

drawing submitted in support of a fence permit application: 

            1.   Fence location; 

            2.   Location of all structures within 25 feet of the proposed fence; 

            3.   Location of all driveways within 25 feet of the proposed fence; 

            4.   Location of all sidewalks within 25 feet of the proposed fence; and 

            5.   Location of all existing fences within ten feet of the proposed fence. 

               The Building Official may determine if other additional information is reasonably 

necessary to provide a complete review of the proposed fence. Such additional information shall 

be provided by the applicant as may be required by the Building Official. 

 

         B.   Application fee. Each fence permit application shall be accompanied by an application 

review fee to recover the reasonable costs for review and permit issuance. The amount of the fee 

shall be fixed by resolution of the Village Council. 

 

         C.   Survey required. Where a perimeter feature is proposed, the lot lines on the property 

shall be indicated through placement of permanent stakes located by a licensed surveyor. Lot 

lines must be located before the fence permit is issued. The Building Official shall withhold 

issuance of the permit to construct the fence until the lot lines are located and permanent stakes 

are placed by a licensed surveyor. 

 

         D.   Review and approval. The Building Official shall review the fence application and 

supporting data with respect to the standards set forth in this Zoning Code, the adopted Building 

Code, and any administrative rules which may be established to provide for proper 

administration of this section. The Building Official shall grant a permit to construct a proposed 

fence upon finding that it fully complies with all applicable regulations. All fences, including 

fences approved as part of a site plan, are subject to inspection by the Building Official to assure 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/franklin/latest/franklin_mi/0-0-0-6298#JD_1268.28


compliance with the regulations set forth in this Zoning Code and to assure that the fence is 

constructed with sound materials. 

E. Fences in the Historic District. Except for construction fences, fences proposed to be

erected in the Franklin Village Historic District shall be referred to the Franklin Historic District 

Commission for review and recommendation prior to issuance of a building permit, consistent 

with the provisions of Section 1230.05 . The Historic District Commission shall take action on 

the application consistent with the provisions of Section 1230.05 . In no event shall the Historic 

District Commission approve a fence that could not be otherwise constructed in accordance with 

the various provisions of this section. 

(3) Appeal of a decision. An applicant may appeal a decision of the Building Official or the

Planning Commission concerning a proposed fence or the enforcement of the provisions of this 

section to the Zoning Board of Appeals. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall review the appeal in 

accordance with the standards and procedures set forth for a dimensional variance in this Zoning 

Code. 

(4) Administrative rules. The Village Council may establish reasonable rules and procedures,

consistent with the intentions of this Zoning Code, which may be necessary to provide for the 

proper administration of this section. 

Summary of Location and Height Regulations (see Ordinance for specific requirements) 

Interior Fence Perimeter Feature Privacy Screen 

Permitted 

Location 

• Rear yard

• Side yard

• Rear yard

• Non-street side yard

• Front and street side  yards in limited 

cases:

• Historic District

• Stone walls

• Within 6 feet of  adjacent lot line

• Rear yard

• Side yard

• not in

setbacks

Permitted Height • 48 inches,

except:

• Dog runs: 6'

• Public spaces: 8'

• Tennis courts:

12'

• 48 inches, except

• architectural elements

• as limited by maximum    opacity

requirements

• 6 feet

 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/franklin/latest/franklin_mi/0-0-0-4680#JD_1230.05
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/franklin/latest/franklin_mi/0-0-0-4680#JD_1230.05
heather
Cross-Out



 
  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Section 5.     Severability.  This ordinance and each Chapter, section, subsection, paragraph, 

subparagraph, part, provision, sentence, word and portion thereof are hereby declared to be 

severable; and if they or any of them are declared to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason by 

a court of competent jurisdiction, it is hereby provided that the remainder of this ordinance shall 

not be affected thereby. 

Section 6.        Penalty.  All violations of this ordinance shall be municipal civil infractions and 

upon a determination of responsibility therefore shall be punishable by a civil fine of not more 

than $500 and such other sanctions as may be ordered pursuant to Village Code Section 202.99. 

Section 7.        Repeal, Effective Date, Adoption. 

(1)       Repeal.   All regulatory provisions contained in other Village ordinances 

which conflict with the provisions of this ordinance are hereby repealed. 

(2)       Effective Date.   This ordinance shall become effective on ________, 2021, 

twenty (20) days following its adoption, and shall be published prior to its effective 

date as mandated by charter and statute. 

(3)       Adoption.   This ordinance was adopted by the Village Council of the 

Village of Franklin at a meeting thereof held on __________________, 2021. 

 

 

________________________________________ 

William Lamott, President 

Village of Franklin 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE 

I, HEATHER MYDLOSKI, VILLAGE OF FRANKLIN CLERK, 

DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE 

AND COMPLETE COPY OF AN ORDINANCE, THE 

ORIGINAL OF WHICH IS ON FILE IN MY OFFICE ADOPTED 

BY THE VILLAGE COUNCIL OF THE VILLAGE OF 

FRANKLIN AT A MEETING THEREOF HELD ON JULY 19, 

2021. 

 

______________________________________ 

Heather Mydloski, Clerk 

Village of Franklin 

 






























	3-August 09, 2021 VC Agenda
	4-July 19 2021 Special Council Minutes
	5-1-Police Cheif Report Monthly-July 2021
	5-2-Fire Chief Report 07-21
	7-Bills List
	9-A-1-Cover Letter-Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain Chapter 20 Section 471 Letter 2021-07-08
	9-A-2-Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain Chapter 20 Section 471 Agreement 2021-07-08
	9-B-20210806_Proposal_2021DrainageStudies
	9-C-20210806_Proposal_StWMaintProgram
	9-D-1-Clerk MEMO-ZBA-Alternate
	9-D-2-Chairman Randy Brakeman Recomendation Aug 4 2021 letter ZBA
	9-D-3-Commissioner Wooters-Nick Bevins Recommendation
	9-D-4-ZBA_Bevins_ApplicationAug2021
	9-D-5-ZBA_Bevins_cv_Aug2021
	Contact
	Employment
	Education
	Certifications
	Professional
	Teaching
	Invited Presentations
	Publications
	Proceedings Publications
	Conference Abstracts

	9-D-6-Alternate-Mark Ziessow-Appointed  on 02-10-2021-Term ending 2023
	9-E-1-2021 Second Electronic Meetings Resolution - CLEAN
	9-E-2-2021 Second Electronic Meetings Resolution - REDLINE
	9-F-Fence Standards Gardens (clean) 08-03-2021
	9-G-Labor Day Roundup
	9-H-Art in the Village
	9-I-FFPL Oktoberfest

